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MAIMONIDES — 750th YAHRZEIT
WHAT IS HIS MESSAGE FOR TODAY?

November 5

Moses Maimonides, one of the greatest
Jewish personalities of all umes, died in
Egypt in 1204. This year we take note of
the 750th anniversary of his death by ar-
tempting to re-evaluate the meaning of his
life. The external facts are well known.
Forced 1o flee from his native Spain, he
lived in Morocco for a time, and then
fled again to Egypt, where he became the
personal physician o the Sultn.

In his philosophy, he attempted the
major task of reconciling the teachings of
Judaism with those of Aristotle. Maim-
onides’ major works have endured through
the centuries. While there is much in his
philosophy which may no longer appear
relevant, still he offered remarkable in-
sights into certain universal problems.
There is much in what he said which can
be most helpful o us today.

H.AE.

Haddishh List
(Taken from Memorial Tablets)

November 5
Benjamin Painter

November 12

Abel Berkoff
Victor Elconin
Joseph E. Heller
Leopold Heller
Rae Manasse
Arthur Polachek
Jacob H. Simonson
Benedicc Strnad
Julia Strauss
Daniel Whitehead
Arthur Zitron

NOTES
WAS IT MORAL FOR A SCIENTIST
TO WORK ON THE HYDROGEN BOMB?
November 12

It is only natural, one day after Ar-
mistice Day, to think of the evil of war,
and how much more horrible future war
might be with the new bombs.

Why did scientists agree to continue
work on these devilish projects? It could
b= argued that the A-bomb was a war-
time necessity. But whar of the H-bomb?
There are those who say thar the physi-
cists, engineers, rescarch men and all
others who participated are guilty of the
highest immorality — for they fashioned
weapons -of unheard of power against
their fellow men. Others protest that the
scientists are not at fault, bur the diplomars
and politicians who fail o make peace
at the council tables must be blamed if
war breaks out.

Is there any moral question involved?
Was Oppenheimer's conscience a factor
in his opposition? Was he right?

HAF.

RESERVE THE DATE:?®
Saturday Evening, November 20th

SISTERHOOD - MEN’S CLUB DINNER DANCE

(preceded by cocktail parties)




“Sharks”

We wish to thank those who participat-
ed in decorating the beautiful Succah
which graced our pulpit this season:

Mr. and Mrs. Norman Abrahams, Alice, Jim
and Jane Abrahams; Donald Ansfield; Ariel
Bar Sela; Mr. and Mrs. Joseph Cohan, Debra,
Jerry and David Cohan; Eva Ann Coifman;
Julie Elliott; Dr. and Mrs, B. L. Feldman, Do-
rene and Armin Feldman; Mrs. Ben Galin,
Susan and Richy Galin; Nancy and Louise Jung;
Mrs. Robert Krauskepf; Frances and Kenneth
Hurwitz; Mr. and Mrs. Aaron Levine and Dick
Levine; Dr. and Mrs, Robert W. Mann, Kachy,
Connie and Dick Mann; Norman and Bernard
Marks; Fred Mayer; Judy Scheinfeld: Mr. and
Mrs. Harold Wartkins, Ruth, Rhona and Ramey
Watkins; S. Harry Stern and Mr. and Mrs.
Erwin Youngerman.

Thanks, also, to the following who sery-

ed as ushers ar the service on Monday

evening, October 11:

Messrs.: Robert Gardon; Ernie Line; Roberr

Mm.l’hlll Schiff: G
n““;snw S-ihw&m; ustave

o A GREERS

The following young people have been
elected Officers of the Confirmation Class
for the coming year:

Co-Presidents— Todd Lappin and Edward
Pereles; Vice President — Micky Fisher; Sec-
retary — Sandra Smith; Treasurer — Robert
Berkoff and Social Chairmen — Barbara Kay
and Tom Kohn.

On Saturday morning, October 30th,
these boys and girls were installed as Of-
ficers of the Religious School:

President—Myron Weisfeldt, 9C; Vice Presi-
dent—Michael Forman, 8A; Secretary—Lin-
da Goldman, 7C; and Treasurer—Terry For-
man, GA.

FLOWERS FOR OUR ALTAR

The Sisterhood acknowledges with
thanks the receipt of the following coneri-
butions to its Floral Fund:

IN HONOR OF: Mr. and Mss. Ben Feld on
their 60th wedding anniver-
sary.

Mrs. Morris D. Callen's re-
covery,

IN MEMORY OF: Leo J. Kohn, Issac and

Ethel Kohn, Mr. and Mrs.
B. W. Schwarzz and [sh-
mael Brat.

< -

CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE
ENDOWMENT FUND

The Temple Endowment Fund receiv-
ed gifts during the past several months:
For Memorial Plates: From Mr. and Mrs. Ben
Feld in memory of Emil Feld. From Mrs.
Lea Zucker in memory of Leo Zucker.
From Miss Lillian Friedman in memory of
Sarah Friedman and Sam Friedman. From
Mrs. Louis A, Weisfeldt in memory of Dr.
Louis A. Weisfeldt, From Mrs, Leo Wer-
ner in memory of Leo Wermner,

General Contributions: From Mr. and Mrs. Emil
Hersh in honor of Rabbi Joseph L. Baron.

From Dr. and Mrs. Abe Melamed in mem-
ory of Dr. Maurice J. Ansfield and Dr,
Louis A. Weisfeldr. Prom Dr. and Mrs.
Francis Rosenbaum in memory of Dr.
Maurice J. Ansfield. From Mm. Joseph
Lieberman in memory of Joseph Lieber-
man. From the Shadur Family in memory
of Addie Karger.

INTER FAITH ACTIVITY
On Saturday morning, October 9th,
-mothers of students of the sixth grade in

oﬁ the religious school
Wisconsin.

The Juncheon for the Delavan visitors
was amn@ by our Temple Sisterhood in
co-operation with the Midwest Regional
Office of the Anti-Defamation League of
Bnai Brith and the Milwaukee Jewish
Council.

Sisterhood members who participated
in the arrangements were:

Mrmes.: Norman Abrahams, Jack Abraham,

Erwin Berk, Marvin Gordon, Maxwell Ler-

ner, Harry Pitelman, Maurice Siegel, Ray-
mond Strauss, and Alan Zien.

The Temple is in need of an upright piano
for the Vestry room. If you hove such o
piono, which you are not presently using, we
will be happy to receive it. Please call Miss
Friedman, ED. 2-6960.

TAX EXEMPTION NOW 30%

The attention of our members is colled to
the new tox law. The limit on charitable
contributions for individuals hos been in-
creased from 20% to 30%, provided the ex-
tra 10% is donated to your Temple, o tax
exemp! hospital, or @ tax exemp! education-
ol insfitution.

Dues ond other contributions to Temple
and its ouxiliory orgonizoti are i
tax deductions.




THE TEMPLE BOND DINNER
Sunday Evening, November 7, at 6:30 o'clock

el

Honorable ABBA EBAN
Ambassador of Israel to the United States
is speaking at the

Venetian Room of the Astor Hotel
in the interest of

Israel Government Bonds

| Reservations, at $4,00 per plate, should be accompanied by checks made
payable to Lawrence S. Katz and sent to the Temple, 2419 E. Kenwood Blvd. ||
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I. Furror aroused by this book, "The Hydrogen Bomb: The Men,

The Menace, The Mechanism." by JameaBSheplggand Clay Blair, Jr.
7 29

1. Strauas offered to buy the manuscript and lock 1t in a
gafe for 25 years until most of the individuals involved
in the H-bomb controversy were dead.

2, Gordon Dean, preceding AEC chairman, wrote angry review of
book for Bulletin of Atomic Scientists. He wrote "These
two boys have done u-dbrioanﬁggsggrvioq. Their book may
very well do what the Communists would love to do - under-
mine the atomic Qnsmgy'imggraﬁfﬁr this country."”

3. Dr. Norris Bradbury, director of lLos Alamos Lshratory,
called his first press conference in eight years to repute
some of the charges of the book, - lees. that Los Alamos
wag"loaded with communigts and former comruniste" and that
the lahratory had dragged 1t@ heels for years én the H-bomb.

II. What are charges of the book?
That Oppenheimer was against developing the H-bomb.

That he and his prestige prejudiced other scientist vse. 1t.
s g« Einstein.

That Los Alamos did not cooperate
That AEC under Lilienthal was against.

That Teller wanted to develop )
That Strauss wanted to develop
That McMahon wanted to develop
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III. Morality involved ag factor in opposition.

A. Lillenthal generally regarded atomic weapons wilth a sense
of revulsion. He was dedlcated to the advancement of the
benlign uses of atomic energy.

Even after the Klaus Fuchs revelation, 27 Jan. '50 and when
Truman's special sub-committeemet, 31 Jan, Acheson and
Johnson were for - Lilienthal against, morally, saying,
that he had a "vigeeral feeling this is wrong."

B. Oppenheimer

“In gome crude sense, which no vulgarity, no humor,
no overgtatement can duite extinguish, the physicists have
known gin and thls is a knowledge which they cannot lose.”

On one oecagion, at the White House, Oppenheimer had
wept in the presencée of Truman becauge of "the blood on our
hands.”®

Many scientists had contributed their geniug in a
total effort against the total evil of Hitler. When Hitler
wag killed (and the bomb not yet used) a sense of having

created an unnecegsary evil overwhelmed the.

Ce The leadersg in the anti-H-bomb lobby were the opinion
leaders of U. 8. science: Einstein, Rabi, Bacher, Conant,
8z1lard and others. The effeet of their arguments on the
younger sclentists was magsive. They stayed away from Los

Alamos in droves.
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Right after Truman's decision twelve of nation's leading
physiciats 1lssued a statementthat said:

"We believe that no nation has the right to use such a bomb,
no matter how righteous its cause. This bomb is no longer a
weapon of war but a means of extermination of whole populationse.
Its use would be a betrayal of all standards of morality and of
Chrigtian eivilization itselfe To create such an ever-present
peril for all the nationg of the world ls agalnst the vital
interests of both Rusgsia and the United States."

Einatein-adaed'his.persanal word againgt making the H-bomb3i
"The idea of aﬁhieving:ﬁilitary gecurity tﬁﬁpugh national
armaments is a disastrous 1llusions The armament race between
the USA and the USSR aaauméafhgajefioﬂi gharacter. The H-bomb
appears on the publie horizon_as_g prébdbly attalnable goal.
If successful, radioaeﬁiﬂ@.potaéniasﬁé} the atmosphere and hence
annihilation of any 1life on earth has been brbught within the range
of technical possibilities.. In the end there beckons more and
more clearly general annihilation.”
GAC voted against it, 29 Oct. 49 on five grounda:
le It is immoral
2 It is too expensive
3« It might not prove feasible
L, It is excessively destructive

5¢ It has no péace-time use .

After that meeting Ferml and Rabl wrote:
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#The fact that no limits exist to the destructivenegs of
this weapon meke its very existence and the knowledge of its
congtruction a danger to humanity as a whole. It is necessari-
ly an evil thing, consldered in any light. For these reasons
we belleve 1t important for the President of the U.8. to tell
the American public and the world that we think it 1s wrong
on fundamental ethical prineiples to initiate the development
of svech a weapon."”

F. Sum up position of antis:
l. Morally wrong . £
2e Would put Russia further on the defenaive (hence neww s
and easler to provoke)
3e Would retard'peace by stimulating arms race
L, Equilibrium in A-bombg was sufficient "
S. RusSie imitetes” =S wh dot Cpake 3, she wont.
IV. What are major arguments for g@;ng ahead with 1t?
1. Rugsia will soon have if —
2+ Strength ig a dsterrent
* 3¢ Unllateral digarmament 1s a greater sin, for it encourages
ageression (l.e. only when Russia knew she had the A-bomb -
first explosion was in August'#9 - did she feel fres to
unleash the Korean war - June 50)
Lg. It is not prohibitively expensive
5¢ It can be made to yleld peace-time benefitse.

Ve What 1s present status of A-weapong?

Hangon Baldwin
"The atomic arms race 1= increasing in intensity".
Russia has exploded ten nuclear weapons (including one H)

in five years.
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UsS. hag exploded 42 in nine years.

Britain has exploded 3

f3tockpiles of operational, deliverabls weapons are steadily
inereasing. These stockplles probebly are numbered in a
very sizable 4 figures in the UeS., in a sgizable three
figures in the Soviet Union, and in two figures in Britain.”

"The means and methods ofJﬁagiqg warfare are gtill increasing
far more rapidly than man's ability to control these instruments
of destruction.” '

One H-bomb now packs-the power of all the bombs we used on

Hitler, Mussolinl and Japan combined.

VI. What is present war-making potential?
"At any time in the year 195%, the UsS: Strategic Air Command
had the capability, if the President of the United States issued
such an order, to raln down complete urban annihilation on the
Soviet Unlon. Literally within bwe hoture after the firat SAC
bomber penetrated the Soviet sarly-warning system, the
UsSe ~ Af everything went according to plan-could put 1,000

o enillim tong TNT

atomic bombs of 500 kilotons' force on Soviet targets. The
bombers would penetrate simultaneously from around 2 17,000~
mile perimeter, into the 350 million cubic miles of air over
the U.8.8.R+ The possibility of the Red Air Force blunting this

attack in any appreciable degree 1s remotes
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Within another year after 1954 most of the bombs in guch a
rald would be not 500 kiloton bombs but thermonuclear bombs of
at least 15 ;gé:{:o?l;" %;oe. One thousand Soviet targets
wiped from the face of the earth would leave little else %o
hif even in such a vagt land.

None of these Dbilzarre gtatistics should hold false assurances
for Amerlcans. Within only & few years or even less the Red
Alr Force, SUSAC, mugt be conceded the same capability against
the U.Se."

Conclusions
1l It is done and cannot be undone.
2e If leading scientists had moral qualms and compunctions
about 1ts manufacture- how much more go should our govern-
ment be careful about its use.
3« There may be many more gmall wars - Korea and Indochina -
in which the temptation to use nuclear weapons will be
greate This must be resisted. Fight communism with
l. S8tatecrafrt
2+ Small wars 1f necessary
3« no big one.
4, Let us learn to live with this thing - not get trigger-happy
or nervous - until the state of armed anxiety of the two
atomlic cologsi eyeing each other malevolently acrosgs a

divided world will yield to a state of co-existence and

even eventually cooperation.
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We Accuse!
Joseph and Stewart Alsop

Many Americans—some vf dmr: gmmc emzcns', some :a(!kgh office,
and some whose official resp ! ced judg-
ment on Dr. J. Robert Qﬂmnimmﬂ-'s ﬁmess 10 Imbe aeam to the
scientific secrets on which the national security so Invgclp depends.
Many acensations were leveled against Dr. Opp:nhﬂmef in the course
of this debate, and the formal findings of the Atomic Energy Commis-
sion against him weve !wgﬂnfy puﬁhed Among those who did not
accept these findings, however, were the widely vead and vespected
journalists, Joseph and Stewart eﬂmp} who here in turn accuse the
accusers. Their conclusions are presented, not merely to answer charge
with countercharge, but to round out the record on the critically

important issues which the Oppenheimer Case has raised but by no

means resolved.

1. Rise and Fall

HE title of this report is borrowed from

I Emile Zola, whose J' Accuse marked the

turning point in the case of Captain
Dreylus. It is a proud title, for it is still the
symbol of one of our era’s rare wiumphs
of the liberal spirit over organized injustice.
It is a title, indeed, that one must be pre-
sumptuous to borrow; and we only dare 1o
do so because we oo accuse,

We accuse the Atomic Energy Commission
in particular, and the American government
in general, of a shocking miscarriage of justice
in the case of Dr. ], Robert Oppenheimer.

We accuse Oppenheimer’s chief judge, the
chairman of the Atomic Energy Commission,
Admiral Lewis Strauss, and certain of Oppen-
heimer's accusers, of venting the bitterness

" of old disputes through the security system of

this country.

-

—The Editors

And wé accuse the security system itself,
as being subject to this kind of ugliness,
and as inherently repugnant in its present
standards and procedures to every high tradi-
tion of the American past.

These are grave accusations, which must be
factually supported. As to whether they- are
justified, the reader must decide. And so,
without further ado, let us begin the re-trial
by calling the defendant to the bar; for the
first requirement for an understanding of
the Oppenheimer case is an understanding
of Oppenheimer himself.

J. Robert Oppenheimcr was born in
New York City in 1904, into a prosperous,
cultivated, and liberal Jewish family. The
father, an immigrant from Germany, was a
successful businessman and a discriminating
collector of modern pictures. The whole
household was imbued with the rabbinical
respect for the things of the mind, and with
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the hope of progress made all the sweeter by
the memory of dark things left behind, that
so often distinguished Jews of their sort in
that simpler and better time.
Characteristically, Oppenheimer’s educa-
tion began at the Ethical Culture School—
where else would such a family send a promis-
ing son? It continued at Harvard, where
Oppenheimer first showed promise as a
physicist and graduated in 1925; and at Lord
Rutherford’s great laboratory in Cambridge
and at Gottingen, where he took his doctorate
in 1927. There were two more years of pre-
paratory study, largely abroad. And then, in
the spring of 1929, young Oppenheimer came

back to America, to accept a double teaching,
assignment at the California Institute of

Technology at Pasadena and the Unrvemty
of California at Berke
It is curious, and i in the light of subsequent

events it is highly ironical, that this return

of an utterly obscure twenty-five-year-old
teacher should have proved a significant event
in the American story. Yet such it was.

uE truth is that in a quite surprising

degree, Oppenheimer was the bringer of

a revelation. Long before his gradua-
tion from Harvard, he had from afar
the revolution in thought that is the New
Physics. But in this he was exceptional; even
in 1929, when he came home for good, the

American universities had only begun to

grasp the cosmos-shaking advances of physical
knowledge that had been achieved in Europe.

At Berkeley, Oppenheimer started with
one graduate student;
slender, intense young man, all but hieratic
in his dedication to his mystery, there rapidly

grew up “the largest school in the country, of

graduate and post-doctoral study in theo-
retical physics.” He was the center, and each
year, when his teaching term at Berkeley
ended, many of his students followed him to
Pasadena to be with him while he fulfilled
his contract with Caltech. If the vast majority
of American physicists today quite genuinely
venerate Robert Oppenheimer, it is because
he trained so many of them, and because the
rest rightly regard him as the man who took
the lead in naturalizing the New Physics in
this country.

In those first years of great accom plishment,
Oppenheimer was almost ludicrously—and

but around . this
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perhaps somewhat self-consciously—remote
from the mundane realities of the American
scene. He took no newspaper. He owned no
radio. The tumultuous political events of
the early 1930s simply escaped his notice. For
distraction he learned Sanskrit, because he
wanted to read the Bhagavad-Gita in the origi-
nal. For the rest, he lived his life in the
rarcfied upper air of abstract physical specula-
tion.

aus he was dangerously innocent—he

had no bewter standards of practical

political judgment than a visiting Mar-
tian—when the world around him ar last
began to attract his attention.

Partly hic came down from his mountaintop
because of his long and unhappy engagement
to Jean Tatlock, the daughter of a fellow pro-
fessor. Partly his imterest in politics was
stimulated by Hitler’s persecution of the Jews
m Germany, where he still had relatives
whom' he helped lmtcrmescape Partly, too,
he was caught up in the wave of emotion
about the Spanish Civil War which then en-
gu!fed so many intellectuals. The Commu-
nist party was brilliantly exploiting both the
Falange and the Nazis, to attract great num-
bers of men like Oppenheimer. Jean Tatlock
was one of the generous but troubled spirits
who were always joining and leaving the
Communist party in those deceptive years of
the united front. Not very surprisingly
therefore, Oppenheimer became an active
fellow-traveler.

He joined front organizations. He attended
meetings. Since he had a private fortune,
he contributed fairly regularly to the party’s
Spanish war and Spanish relief funds; and,
since this was the fashion for the larger fellow-
traveling contributors, he made these contri-
butions through party officials. In short, he
freely indulged in the brand of political folly

- that was then a common highbrow reaction to
the menace of Nazism and Fascism. One thing,
however, Robert Oppenheimer never did.
Despite his fashionable folly, despite the easy
emotionalism that was his first response to
politics, Oppenheimer never took the final
step of joining the Communist party.

By 1939, his fellow-traveling enthusiasm
had cooled off markedly, although he con-
tinued to contribute through party chan-
nels to Spanish relief. In wartime, he
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eschewed politics altogether. Finally, at the
end of the war, the true meaning of the
Soviet-Communist system came home to him
with great force, and rather earlier than to
many other leading Americans—Dwight D.
Eisenhower. for example, was still talking
eupeptically about how easy it was to “get
on with Zhukov” as late as 1947.

After his awakening, the follies of Oppen-
heimer’s past were utterly left behind. For-
mer President Conant of Harvard, General
Frederick Osborn, and many others who
worked with him closely have testified as to
the “hard-headedness” and strongly “anti-
Soviet” character of Oppenheimer’s political
attitude throughout the _postwar_ years. . As
time passed, indeed, | became
the only truly eminent American outside the

armed services—so far as these Teporters

are aware—who was willing to cliscuss dis-
passionately the idea of preventivé war to
save the world from Communist tyranny. On
this point, too, there is rather shocked testi-
mony, from the t chairman. of the Gen,
eral Adwsory Committee of the Atomic Com-
mission, Dr. I. 1. Rabi.

s 1s indicated by the gradual transition
from modish breast-beating to cool,
hard independénce of thought, Oppen-

heimer’s early follies were simply a disastrous
phase in the difficult process of learning his
way about in the everyday world. In this
same process, his marriage in 1940 was also a
stage, and a much happier one.
The story of Katherine Puening Oppen-
heimer is sad, but with a good ending. She
was a pretty, serious, very young girl from a
solid, prosperous, conservative family, when
she rather improbably encountered Joe Dallet
in 1935. Dallet was a romantic. born for a
crusade, who had the half-pathetic, half-ironi-
cal misfortune to enlist under the Communist
banner. She fell violently in love with Dallet;
she left her family and joined the party to
marry him. A little later, she proved her
greater wisdom by rebelling against the
party’s dreary discipline, and this broke up

the marriage. Yet she did not cease to love .

Dallet, and she had just gone to Paris to meet
him again when the news reached her that he
had been killed in action on the Spanish
front. After that desperate moment, she half
blindly blundered into another marriage. Yet

and fellow-traveling intellectnals.
‘was to be important, because Oppenheimer,
‘who is fiercely protective of his wife, was
warmly grateful for Chevalier's kindness in a
‘bad time.

she was still a very unhappy woman when
she and Oppenheimer met in 1939,

Their feeling for one another was strong
and irresistible. Yet he had to part with Jean
Tatlock, who still loved him and made a
tragic last request to see him before her death
in 1943. She also had to part with her hus-
band, and thus the Oppenheimers’ mar-
riage automatically stimulated much un-
kindness in the small Berkeley community.
One of those who were not unkind was
Haakon Chevalier, a clever, superficial
teacher of romance languages, who also be-
longed to the West Coast group of Communist
And this

yucH are the main facts it is needful
\ to know about Robert Oppenheimer,
in the period before History chose him

'.aa r.he principal actor in a larger drama. He

was not a member of the Einstein-Fermi-
Stzilard group of refugee physicists who first
apened the eyes of the American government
to the possibilities of the atom. But he joined
the work soon after it began, and his value
was recogmzed at once.

In the spring of 1942, only a few months
after Pearl Harbor, Dr. Arthur Holly Comp-
ton asked Oppenheimer to recruit and lead a
special scientific task force. Enrico Fermi had
not yetachieved his great triumph, the
famous hrst sustained nuclear chain reaction
in" the University of Chicago squash court.
But Oppenheimer and his task force—which
included Hans Bethe, Edward Teller, and
others of like caliber—were nonetheless told
to begin designing a workable atomic bomb.

Their astonishing led on, within a
few months, to the decision to establish the
great Los Alamos Laboratory. Oppenheimer
had directed the work at Berkeley. He had
even suggested the Los Alamos site to the new
commander of the Manhattan' District
project, Lieutenant General Leslie R. Groves.
But a question still remained, whether Op-
penheimer should be chosen director of Los
Alamos.

As soon as he joined the war effort, -
Robert Oppenheimer had filled out the usual
personnel questionnaire, revealing the gen-
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eral outlines of his political past. By now the
memberships in front organizations, the fel-
low-traveling, the contributions, were all
known to the appropriate autlfonues. So
were his Communist personal associations, in-
cluding the former party memberships of
Katherine Oppenheimer and also of Frank
and of his wife Jackie—for Frank Oppen-
heimer, an unhappy caricature of his brilliant
elder brother, had joined the party in 1936.
But General Groves had already come to
know Oppenheimer rather well. He had no
doubts whatever, and he still has none, about
Oppenheimer’s loyalty. He regarded Oppen-
heimer’s appnintrncm to head Los Alamos as
a “calculated risk,” which it was essential to

take. Why this was essential has been simply

explained by John J. M

sion. “Oppenheimer,” McCIny has said, “was
the only American physicist fully
for the job; there were plenty of rcfngta. ﬁ
course, but everyone agreed ﬂppmhem
was the oniy American who was llp to it in
every way.'

coMmpLETE this facer of the story, it

must also be noted that Oppenheimer

was by no means taken on trust after his
appointment at Los Alamos. muughent
1943, Colonel John Lansdale—a suecessful,
conservative Cleveland lawyer who served as
Los Alamos security officer—repeatedly ques-
tioned Oppenheimer, at great length and in

very great detail, about all his fellow-traveling -
activities and Communist connections. In ad-

dition, Oppenheimer was closely watched at
all times; and he was also interviewed by
Colonel Boris Pash, the Manhattan Distriet
security officer at Berkeley. Colonel Pash, who
saw Oppenheimer only once, always re-
mained suspicious of him. But the able and
tough-minded Colonel Lansdale had the pri-
mary responsibility. He did almost all the
work on Oppenheimer and got to know Op-
penheimer very intimately. And Lansdale
gradually came to have an abiding faith in
Oppenheimer’s lgyalty and discretion.

It is somehow sordid that this essentially
insignificant aspect of the epic of Los Alamos
should now have to be recalled. How Oppen-
heimer tirelessly gathered a great new scien-
tific team, while the new laboratory buildings
were rising on the sun-drenched mesa; how

equy ‘who repre-
sented Secretary of War Stimson in this dﬁi-.

Los Alamos expanded until, at the end, Op-
penheimer was the admired leader of 8,000
people, including 4,000 scientists and techni-
cians: how the work proceeded relentlessly,
past obstacle after obstacle, until the final
blinding triumph that altered the whole
shape of our world—these are the points it
would be more fitting to dwell upon. The
end came in the bareness of the desert at
Alamogordo, when Trintty—the first of the
absolute weapons—was tested with brilliant
and terrible success.

From that moment, to Hiroshima, to the
Medal of Merit and a high position in the
councils of the American government, Robert
Oppenheimer’s journey was rapid and ineluc-
tab!e. The bomb whose glare illuminated

othe of s a strange new stand-
mg m Ammm ‘-,T‘bq aﬁqmred something of
our society of the Matheman-

who maroneef&rgdmd revered as the
knowers of the mystery of the seasons and
the helpers of the sun and stars in their life-
giving courses. Oppenheimer, the maker of
the bomb, became the unofficial high priest.
In the next years, his primary public posi-
tion was the chairmanship of the General
Advisory ‘Committee of the AEC; and in 1947
he also found his private niche as director
of the Imstitute for Advanced Study at
Princeton. But with all his other duties, he
was constantly called upon to serve in the
‘more general capacity of chief scientist to the
American government, working on many
Presidential assignments, always asked to give
counsel on the big political-military-scien-
tific problems, often consulted, indeed, as
though his pronouncements had an oracular
value. And although he left the General Ad-
visory Committee in 1952, his work for the
government continued, and his standing be-
fore the country remained undiminished.

UCH was eimer, such were his re-
S markable record and great position,

) when President Eisenhower named a
new chairman of the Atomic Energy Com-
mission. Lewis Lichtenstein Strauss—a pro-
moter, investment banker, and civilian-in-war-
time Admiral, who had previously served as
one of Truman's first AEC commissioners—
moved into the AEC chairmanship on July 3,
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1953. Just four days later came the first warn-
ing signal. On July 7, as Strauss proudly an-
nounced in his first press release on the
()ppenhcxmer case, the new chairman

“initiated the steps” that were to end with a
heavy-handed squad of AEC security officers
descending on Princeton to remove the
classified documents which Oppenheimer had
always been allowed to store in a specially
guarded facility in his office.

Not long thereafter, events began to move
with unwonted swiftness. At the beginning
of November, a former member of the staff
of the Joint Congressional Committee on
Atomic Energy, William Liscum Borden,
wrote the FBI what can only be called a
lettre de cachet attacking OPpenhemers
loyalty.

The letter was a mishmash of the stale

facts and unsupported conelusions. Accord-
mg to Borden, Strauss was not privy to the

writing of this letter. In any case, under the
established procedures, the lettre de meﬁretset
the whole ponderous lmty mac
motion; and Su'a?. into the dnvers
seat to make the wheels turn faster.

T was Strauss who went to the President
I without consulting, his colleagues, and

came back with the dramatically phrased
order putting a “blank wall” between Oppen-
heimer and all classified data. It was Strauss

who directed the preparation of the harshest
ible statement of charges; Strauss who
called the still unsuspecting Oppenheimer to
Washington to notify him that his AEC clear-
ance was suspended; Strauss who hastened on
the trial of the case. It was Strauss or his. un-
derling, AEC General Manager K. D. Nichols,

who forbade the hearings to be held in New

York, thus effectively preventing the dis-
tinguished but no longer young John W.
Davis from appearing as Oppenheimer’s
counsel. And it was Strauss who decided that
the AEC counsel should be Roger Robb, a
man best known as the lawyer for Senator
Joseph R. McCarthy’s chief journalistic in-
cense-swinger, Fulton Lewis, Jr.

In April of this year, the long hearings be-
gan before a special board composed of the
Chancellor of North Carolina University and
former Secretary of the Army, Gordon Gray;
the former head of the Sperry Gyroscope
Company, Thomas A. Morgan; and the

well-known chemist, Dr. Ward Evans, of
Loyola University.

In late May came the Gray board findings.
Gordon Gray and Thomas Morgan decided
that Oppenheimer was a_security risk: but
almost in the same breath they pronounced
him devotedly loyal, unusually discreet, and
a public servant whose contribution could
never be repaid. In his dissent, Dr. Ward
Evans sternly remarked that the Gray-Morgan
finding would be a “black mark on the
escutcheon™ of the country. The nation
argued the issue, and the case then went to
the AEC.

INALLY, late in June, came the Atomic
Energy Comm.uﬁﬁn 's majority opinion,

A again Gppcnhumer a secur-
ity risk. It was written—in brutal language,

| contrasting sharply with the reflective, re-

_tone of Gordon Gray—by Admiral
Lewis Strauss. It represents a curious evolu-
tion. For the Gray Board had firmly dis-
missed the bulk of the AEC’s original charges
against Opgenhelm which had to do with
this prewar associations. Gray and Morgan had
then found Oppenheimer guilty primarily on
one issue, that his lack of enthusiasm de-
layed the hydrogen bomb project. But now
Strauss, in his turn, firmly dismissed this
Gray-Morgan finding, stating that Oppen-
heimer’s views about the H-bomb had not
even been,considered by the AEC, because
‘he had a right to take any view he chose. By
this process of elimination, all the serious

charges against Oppenheimer were suc-

cessively refuted or dropped, until none re-
mained except those contained in the final
opinion by Lewis Strauss. Hence this Strauss
opinion is the test—the sole test—of the
Oppenheimer case.

What then was the purport of this historic
opinion? Strauss conspicuously failed to
challenge the favorable Gray-Morgan finding,
that Oppenheimer was wholly loyal and
wholly discreet. Strauss mentioned dangerous
associations, but this was strictly subsidiary.
In bitter words, Strauss took his stand
squarely on the ground that Op eimer
suffered from “substantial defects of char-
acter.,” Oppenheimer was guilty, said Strauss,
of persistent “falsehood. evasion, and mis-
representation”; but as proof of these vices
Strauss offered only six “examples.”
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And what were these six proofs, that were
held sufficient to convict Oppenheimer of
character defects so grave as to jeopardize na-
tional security? Three of the Strauss “ex-
amples” can be grouped together and dis-
cussed together, for they are all matters with
a common background. They are as follows:

First, in the course of a long interrogation
in 1943, Colonel Lansdale once asked Oppen-
heimer a single question: “Do you know
Rudy Lambert?” Oppenheimer replied with
a short counter-question: “Do you know what
he looks like?” That was all; and, as will be
seen, it is by no means sure there was even
this much. But in the Gray board hearings,
it developed that Oppenheimer had indeed
known Lambert, a minor Communist official;
had lunched with him once or twice; and thus
knew what he looked like.

Second, again in 1943, Oppenheimer told
Colonel Lansdale he had heard that Joseph

Weinberg, a younger physicist at Berkeley
whom he did not know well, was a member
of the Communist party. Lansdale did not ask
Oppenheimer about Weinberg. Oppenheimer
volunteered the information. Then, seven
vears later, in 1950, an FBI agent questioned
Oppenheimer about Weinberg. On  this
occasion Oppenheimer said that he thought
he had first learned of Weinberg's Com-
munist affiliations when they became public
knowledge, which was after 1943.

HIRD, again in 1943, Oppenheimer told
I Colonel Lansdale he had alsa heard that

another Berkeley physicist, Giovanni
Rossi Lomanitz, was a Communist. Shortly
after this, Lomanitz was drafted in order to
remove him from Berkeley. The head of the
Berkeley laboratory, Dr. Ernest O. Lawrence,
raised a great row about losing Lomanitz.
Partly at Lawrence’s request, Oppenheimer
spoke to Lansdale about getting Lomanitz re-
assigned to work at Berkeley, as one of those
special risks the Manhattan District made it a
policy to take in special cases. Later he wrote
Lansdale, renewing the same suggestion, but
adding that he “was not in a position to en-
dorse this request in an absolute way,” since
he did not know the full facts about Lomanitz.
Finally, after eleven years had passed, Oppen-
heimer was asked a surprise question at the
Gray board hearing: Would he have recom-
mended Lomanitz's re-assignment to Berkeley

if he had known Lomanitz was a Communist?
And he answered this question in the nega-
tive.

HE first thing to note about these mat-
ters, which are solemnly presented by
Admiral Strauss~as final proof of

habitual untruth, is the simple immensity of
their context. Three incorrect answers are
torn, as it were, from a vast hodgepodge of

innumerable questions put to Oppenheimer

by many different people—Pash, Lansdale,
Groves, several FBI agents, Congressional
committees, the Gray Board—and innumer-
able questions put, moreover, in all sorts of
different conditions and at different time in-
tervals over a period of eleven years. Only a
miracle witness could have avoided minor
mistakes and contradictions in these circum-
stances; and Oppenhemer was far from being
a miracle witness about small points.

And by any reasonable standard, the three
mistakes about Lambert, Wemberg. and
Lomanitz were all extremely minor. In the
case of the Lomanitz letter, Oppenheimer
was asked to recall the forgotten background
of a lerter written eleven years before, and
asked in a way that invited a wrong reply. In

‘the Weinberg case, he fell into what is surely

the commonest of all human errors, which is
confusing the time when you have learned a
long-known fact in a past already remote. As
for the Lambert case, there may be no case
at all, for the transr:npt of the Lansdale-Op-
penheimer interview in 1943 is badly garbled.
And if the transcript is correct, it is surely not
stretching things too far to suppose that just

~once in all these unending interrogations, Op-

penheimer was tired or muddled or inatten-
tive, and thus gave a misleading reply to just
one short question, casually put and never
asked again.

One might be unwilling to make this sym-
pathetic stretch, of course, if the record
showed that Oppenheimer had any important
motive for being evasive about Lambert, or
changing the date of his knowledge of Wein-
berg’s Communism, or misrepresenting the
background of his letter about Lomanitz. But
the record shows no trace of an important
motive, and no attempt to establish any
motive. Lomanitz, Weinberg, and Lambert
were all men who played no serious role in
Oppenheimer’s life. While Oppenheimer
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made mistakes about these men who meant
little to him, he was exceedingly accurate
—and at sore cost to his own Eeelings—about
other persons who meant a great deal to him.
Surely an intelligent man does not tell the
bleak, uncomfortable truth about what is im-
portant, and then, just for fun and games, tell
lies about what is unimportant. With no
showing of motive, in short, these things are
trifles. Yet they are one-half of Admiral
Strauss’s proof of Oppenheimer’s habitual un-
truth.

HE fourth of the Admiral’s examples,
the so-called Peters letter, is really too
silly to be worth discussing in detail.

Before a Congressional committee, Oppen-
heimer testified somewhat intemperately
about the political past of a German refugee
physicist, Bernard Peters; and then, when the
news leaked and Peters’ job was. endangered
he wrote a letter that went rather far in tru-
ing up. Admiral Strauss also went rather far
to true up, in his recent Gongresumml testi-
mony about his faithfulness in cormﬁtlng all
his commission colleagues. The motive of one
was disinterested; of the other, intérested. The
conduct of both was human and natural
under the circumstances.

Example five is also a letter; it is also silly;
and it is only worth discussing in detail be-
cause of the light it throws on the climate and
procedures of the Oppenheimer case.

Very briefly, there was one member absent

from the historic meeting of the General Ad-

visory Committee of the AEG, in October

1949, that unanimously recommended against
an all-out program to produce the hydrogen
bomb. The University of California physicist,
Dr. Glenn T. Seaborg, had gone to Sweden
two weeks earlier. Before leaving, he wrote
Oppenheimer a long, rambling, inconclusive
letter that Dr. Seaborg himself described as
“having more questions than answers.” Yet it
contained the sentence: “Although 1 deplore
the prospect of our country putting a tre-
mendous effort into [the H-bomb program],
I must confess that I have been unable to
come to the conclusion that we should not.”

Dr. Seaborg added that he doubted his
letter would be helpful, that he was ready to
be shown he was wrong, but that the argu-
ments would have to be convincing. He did
not ask that his letter be shown to the other

members of the General Advisory Committee;
and Oppenheimer probably did not interrupt
the GAC’s tense deliberations with Dr. Sea-
borg’s triplication of negatives, although the
GAC members are not clear on this point.
The October meeting was a long, solemn,
and heart-searching discussion of one of the
truly terrible scientific-strategic Rubicons of
our time. In the end, James B. Conant;
Enrico Fermi; Cyril Smith; President Eisen-
hower's personal scientific adviser, Dr. Lee
DuBridge; the present chief scientific ad-
viser to Admiral Strauss, Dr. Rabi; and the
GAC’s two businessmen members, Hartley
Rowe and Oliver Buckley, all joined Oppen-
heimer in opposing a great, immediate effort

‘to make the H-bomb, en both moral and tech-

nical grounds. Rabi and Fermi went further

than the others, declaring the H-bomb

“should never be:made” in this country under

my CIIC!.IBLSE&HCGS-

Some time after this meeting, Dr. Seaborg

returned from Sweden, and was of course told

what had happened. He then attended the

next GAC meeting in December, long before

President Truman’s final decision on the H-
bomb. At this meeting, when the great issue
was again discussed at length, Dr. Seaborg
raised no objection to the decision of his
colleagues. He offered no criticism or argu-

ment. Presumably because he was still of two

minds about it, he simply said that he would
prefer not to express his views. A couple of
months later, before the Joint Congressional
Committee on Atomic Energy, Oppenheimer

:tcst:ﬁcd that “there was surprising unanim-

ity” in the GAC on the H-bomb issue, but
added that Dr. Seaborg “had not expressed
his views.”

O UNDERSTAND how a mountain was

I ‘made of this molehill, you must under-
stand the most curious feature of the
Gray board hearings. The Gray board per-
mitted the AEC counsel to act, and Roger
Robb enthusiastically acted, as an ambitious
prosecutor with none of the inconvenient re-
straints that the courts impose on the prosecu-
tion. The Seaborg letter was scooped up by
the AEC security officers when they took over
Oppenheimer’s classified files. Robb had the
letter. Since Oppenheimer was deprived of
the usual protections of a defendant in an
adversary proceeding, Oppenheimer did not
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have the letter; and had long ago forgotten
all about it.

So Robb brought out the Oppenheimer
testimony as to the GAC’s surprising unanim-
ity and Dr. Seaborg’s failure to express his
views. He induced Oppenheimer to point out
that Seaborg was in Sweden during the
October GAC meeting, and led him into say-
ing there had been no communication with
Seaborg. And then he produced Seaborg’s
forgotten triplication of negatives like a
rabbit out of a hat. Had not Seaborg in fact
expressed his views? Was this not a com-
munication? Was there not concealment? So
the questioning went.

Of course the letter was indecisive and, in-
deed, quite meaningless in view of the pow-
tion that Seaborg tok later on. OF course it

was natural for Oppenheimer to forgetr such

a letter in the intense and complex debate on
the H-Bomb. Of course it was natural for
Oppenheimer to remember only the key
point, that Dr. Seaborg had in fact refrained
from expressing his views when he had the
best possible opportunity to do so. All the
same, the Seaborg letter was paraded among
Admiral Strauss’s examples.

I1. The Oppenheimer Haters

N THE Oppenheimer case layer after layer
I of false appearances, of chaff dressed up
to look like corn, of petty matters artifi-
cially inflated into serious matters, must be
painstakingly got rid of before what is really

serious can be reached. And even what is

really serious has usually, in one way or
another, been given a false appearance. There
i no better illustration of these rules than
the sixth famous “example” which Admiral
Lewis Strauss used to prove Robert Oppen
heimer’s “substantial defects of character.”

Among the six, this is the only example
that is worthy of serious consideration. Even
50, the story can be briefly told.

Shortly before Oppenheimer’s final move
to Los Alamos to take over the great
laboratory, he and his wife received a visit
at their Berkeley house from the man who
had been kind to Katherine Oppenheimer in
the bad time, Haakon Chevalier. When he
and Oppenheimer were alone together in the
kitchen, Chevalier said that George Eltenton,
a West coast Communist, had “spoken to

MAGAZINE

him about the possibility of transmitting
technical information to the Soviet scien-
tsts.” Oppenheimer replied sharply that

“this sounded very wrong to him,"” and the
matter ended there for the time being.

There were two reasons for this temporary
ending. First, the modern concept of

“security” was still very strange and un-
familiar in America that early in the war; and
Oppenheimer at first convinced himself that
he had fulfilled his obligations to “security”
when he so firmly rejected Chevalier's feeler.
Second, Oppenheimer did not wish to impli-
cate his friend, since he felt indebted to him
and since he believed Chevalier was acting as
a mere unwitting tool for Eltenton.

_ Maybe Chevalier was an active Communist.
Oppenheimer did not think so. In the atmos-
phere of those days, after all, it was rather
easy to persuade a woolly-minded teacher of
romance languages that it was not only right
and moral to communicate technical data to
the hard-pressed scientists of our gallant
Soviet ally, but also that thu“asaﬁnewayof
frustrating  the "um Soviet” reactionaries
everyone was warming against. 1943 was
the year, remember, when Time Magazine
was criticizing the choice of Charles E. Bohlen
to accompany Cordell Hull on his mission to
Mascow, on the ground that Bohlen was full
of stuffy prejudices against the noble Rus-
sians.

That summer at Los Alamos, however,
Colonel Lansdale happened to tell Oppen-
heimer that the security people were worried
-about theactivities at Berkeley of the Federa-
tion' of Architects, Engineers, Chemists, and
Technicians. Oppenheimer recalled that El-
tenton was an officer of this left-wing union.

He remembered the Chevalier incident. Un-
der Colonel Lansdale’s tutelage, he had
learned a good deal about the need for
security precautions. He thought the whole
problem over, and when he went to Berkeley
a littde later, he warned the security officers
there that Eltenton would bear watching. He
knew, he said, that Eltenton had tried to
obtain secret information.

T 15 not clear whether Oppenheimer was
taken unawares by the next move, or
whether he had decided in advance to

tell a lie to shield Chevalier. At any rate,
when the chief security officer, Colonel
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Boris Pash, immediately asked Oppenheimer
for details, Op: imer answered with an
idiotic “cock and bull story” about how three
persons, all unnamed, had been approached
by Eltenton, and about microfilm, the Soviet
consulate, and God knows what else. There,
once again, the matter ended for the time
being; for when Oppenheimer was pressed for
names, he refused to give them, merely saying
that Eltenton’s overtures had been rebuffed.

A couple of months Jater, General Groves
at length told Oppenheimer that he would
have to order him to name names: and at this
point Oppenheimer told how the approach to

him had been made by Chevalier. Neither

Colonel Lansdale nor General Groves seems
to have been partlcularly shocked by Oppen-
heimer’s behavior in this matter, and both
rather made light of it before the Gray board.
They did not of course seek to excuse or
* palliate either the delay in giving the warning
about Eltenton, or the subsequent cock and

bull story to protect Chevalier. But Lansdale
strongly emphasized that Oppenheimer had
taken the initiative to give the warning about

Eltenton, going to Pash of his own velition.
This, he said, was the significant point.

Of the cock-and-bull story, Groves remarked
that Oppenheimer merely showed the typl
cal American schoolboy attitude that therc i is
something wicked about telling on a friend.
He added that he “felt [he] had gotten what
[he] needed out of” Oppenheimer’s final con-
fession. And he summed up pretty effectively:

“1 do know this: that [Oppenheimer] was

doing what he thought was essential, which
was to disclose to me the dangers of this
particular attempt of a potential spy to enter
the project.”

incident, together with the opinions on

it,of the two men who had the best
reasons to be upset about it and were closest
to it at the time.

It had a minor sequel, in that Oppenheimer
did not absolutely break off relations with
Chevalier. He still believes that Chevalier
ignorantly let himself be used by Elten-
ton; and there was still the old sense of
gratitude. Last year, when the Oppenheimers
were in Paris, the Chevaliers learned of their
visit from Professor Niels Bohr. They wrote
asking to see the Oppenheimers. Chevalier

Tms is the whole of the famous Chevalier

was then working for UNESCO, which had
raised the question of his clearance. He did
not know whether to resume his French
citizenship to keep his job, or to brave the
thing out as an American; and he wanted to
talk to Oppenheimer about it. The two cou-
ples lunched together one day, and the next
day paid a call together on Chevalier’s friend,
André Malraux, hardly a left-wing associa-
tion.

The best comment on this encounter was
made by George F. Kennan, when Gordon
Gray sought an admission that it was im-
proper for Oppenheimer to see a [ormer
friend with Chevalier’s background. “I don’t
like to think,” said Kennan, “that people in
a senior capacity in government should not
be permitted or conceded maturity of judg-
ment to know when they can see such a person
or when they can't. If they come to you,
sometimes I think it is impossible for you to
turn them away abzuptly or in a cruel way,
simply because you are afraid of association
with them, so long as what they are asking
of you is nothing that affects your govern-
mental work. I myself say it is a personal
view on the part of Christian charity to try
to be at least as decent as you can to them.”

Y ucH are the facts. It remains to be ex-
phn'ned how these rather simple facts
have been blown up, before the Amer-

ican publlc, almost to the proportions of a
nightmare.  The explanation is that AEC
counsel Robb used the old prosecator’s trick
of forcing Oppenheimer to admit, over and
over again, that he had lied in his original
cock and bull story to Colonel Pash. What
was really a single made-up story was worked.
like a mine, to produce thirteen admissions of
lying. Robb’s trick evidently gave Admiral
Strauss just what he wanted, as one can see
from the account he gives of the Chevalier
incident in his AEC opinion:

Dr. Oppenheimer has now admitted un-
der oath that while in charge of the Los
Alamos Laboratory and working on the
most secret weapons development for the
government, he told Colonel Pash a fabri-
cation of lies. Colonel Pash . . . was charged
with the duty of pror.ectmg ‘the atomic-
weapons project against spies. Dr. Oppen-
heimer told Colonel Pash in circumstantial
detail of an attempt by a Soviet agent to
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obtain from him information about the
work on the atom bomb. This was the
Haakon Chevalier incident. In the hear-
ings recently concluded, Dr. Oppenheimer
under oath swears that the story he told
Colonel Pash was a “whole tissue and
fabrication of lies.”

There are several things to be said about
that remarkable paragraph, of which the first
is that it amounts to as big and ugly an
untruth as Oppenheimer ever told Colonel
Pash. “This” was emphatically not “the
Haakon Chevalier incident.” It was only a
part of the Chevalier incident, and by no

means the major part. The major part was.

Oppenhelmcr s voluntary decision to give the
warning about Eltenton. That was the hea:n
of the matter, according to both Lansdal

and Groves. Strauss left out the heart 0E ﬂle- \

matter. He omitted every other expla
and extenuating fact. He mqected the

mony of the two real experts on thn(ihcvathet
incident, Groves and Lansdale. And so he

achieved no mere caricature of the truth, but

a gross and flagrant distortion.

HERE is an ancient ru!e--.of Roman law

I that suppressio veri and suggestio falsi,

in combination, are tantamount to a
conscious lie and may be so treated by the
judge on the bench. There is no known rule
that covers the judge himself mdulgin&
wholesale, in the suppression of what is rele-
vant and true, and the suggcst:on of what is
irrelevant and false.

One would like to pause to analyze at some
length the other instances of these practices,
which are liberally studded throughout Ad-
miral Strauss’s opinion. His accounts of all
the other five “examples” are also biased in
language, and the central, explanatory facts—
showing why Oppenheimer acted as he did
and putting his actions in sensible proportion
—are omitted without exception.

After giving his examples, furthermore,
Admiral Strauss permitted himself a bold
hint that the secret and unpublished part of
the record contained many other facts damag-
ing to Oppenheimer. “The catalog does not
end with these six examples,” he wrote. “The
work of Military Intelligence, the Federal
Bureau of Investigation, and the Atomic
Energy Commission—all, at one time or an-
other, have felt the effect of his falsehoods,

evasions, and misrepresentations.” This state-
ment is nailed as just not true, in the power-
ful dissenting opinion of AEC Commissioner
Henry C. Smyth, who saw and studied every
document that Strauss saw and studied.
Here, then, was an American citizen of
great eminence and public usefulness, who
had been lengthily tried and found to be un-
questionably discreet and unquestionably
loyal. And by such methods and on such evi-
dence as we have shown, this man was publicly
disgraced before his country and the world.

ET even the peculiarities of the evi-
dence and the curiosities of its presen-
tation do not brmg us to the end of the
mng&sml;y of this Sﬁauss opinion that con-
- Robert eimer as a security

mk Orm must aﬁa l%member that Oppen-

- AFC sefore. And here we find what
Admiral Sﬂ!auﬂ \yonﬁ probably call a “pat-
tern,” made up of three interrelated sets of
facts, and pointing to a decidedly unappetiz-
ing conclusion.

First, there is the story of the clearance
itself. When the FBI summary came to the
AFC in the winter of 1947, preliminary clear-
ance off)ppmhclmer was voted promptly, but
the commission was sufficiently concerned to
defer final clearance. J. Edgar Hoover was
consulted and raised a special warning flag
about the Chevalier incident, saying that it
was the “only thing he didn’t like.” Besides
the summary, the FBI's full investigative file
on Oppenheimer was also sent to the AEC
and made available to the commissioners.
This file not only gave the essential facts of
the Chevalier incident; it also included an
explicit admission by Oppenheimer—made to
the FBI in 1946 and comparable in all but
wording to the admission he made to the
Gray board—that the first story *he told
Colonel Pash was pure fabrication. Yet in
August 1947, after considering the matter four
months, the AEC unanimously voted to give
Oppenheimer full and final clearance.

Second, the fullness and finality of this 1947
clearance was hidden from Oppenheimer and
his lawyers for a period of several months
after the case against Oppenheimer was
started. The AEC, which means Strauss, at
first made available a strikingly incompiete
record, making it seem that the 1947 clear-
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ance was casually voted without any oppor-
tunity to consider the derogatory data. Op-
penheimer’s counsel before the Gray board,
Lloyd Garrison, had to press very hard to
get the whole story from the AEC. The
full record was only produced toward the
end of the hearings. On the face of the
evidence, in short, there was at least a strong
reluctance to reveal the truth about the 1947
AEC clearance, if not a positive effort to
conceal it.

Third, this reluctance to reveal or this
effort to conceal, whichever it may have been,
assumes a most disturbing significance in
view of the central fact about the subsequent
opinion handed down by Lewis Strauss. In
the Strauss opinion, the Chevalier story is
everything. It provides the only proof cited
by Strauss of O T's ™ ~and
willful disregard of the obhgaums of se-
curity.” It provides the only proof cited by
Strauss of Oppenheimer’s “continuing asso-
ciations with Communists” in the postwar

period. Above all, zfuhadmb_eenfnr this.

Chevalier incident, in which (
undoubtedly acted very wrongly Strauss’s
other five “examples” would have been
laughed out of court. The prosecutor’s trick
that provided the invaluable phrase—"a whole
tissue and fabrication of lies”"—alone gave a
persuasive color of sinister importance to the
other small stuff.

ow one of the AEC Commissioners
I \| in 1947—and a most active commis-

sioner, who was regarded, so the testi-
mony shows, as the AEC’s expert on security—
was none other than Lewis L. Strauss. As we
have seen, cverything significant in the
Chevalier story—except, of course, the sad lit-
tle Paris luncheon last year—was included in
the full FBI file that went to the AEC. In
that file, there was even the same sort of flat
admission of lying to Colonel Pash that Op-
penheimer also made before the Gray board.
Furthermore, Lewis Strauss studied that file
in 1947: for at least one member of the AEC
staff clearly remembers being called in by
Strauss that spring, to discuss the file and its
derogatory data. Hence there can be no doubt
that in 1947 Strauss knew all the basic facts of
the Chevalier incident, which was to become
the be-all and end-all of his bitter 1954 opin-
ion condemning Robert Oppenheimer as a se-

curity risk. But in August 1947, Lewis Strauss
voted with the other Atomic-Energy Commis-
sioners to grant Robert Oppenheimer full
and final security clearance for the most con-
fidential scientific post in the American gov-
ernment, the chairmanship of the AEC’s
General Advisory Committee. And in Oc-
tober 1947, in his capacity as a member of
the Institute board, Strauss also nominated
Oppenheimer to the directorship of the Insti-
tute for Advanced Study.

There is a glaring contrast here between
the Strauss of 1947 and the Strauss of 1954,
which is made all the more glaring by the
apparent attempt to prevent the contrast
from bccoming too obvious. There is a
puzzle in this contrast, and not a very pretty
puzzle either. The solution must be sought—
it can only be t—in the character of
Admiral Strauss himself.

EwIs StRAUss—he pronounces it “Straws”

--rs a short, natty, energetic, ambitious,

‘and mteﬂi.gmr man. From rather poor
begmnmgs ‘he has made a handsome fortune
for himself as a Kuhn Loeb partner and as a
financial adviser to the Rockefellers. But he
is no mere money-getter. He genuinely cares
about the public service. He usefully served
the late James V. Forrestal in wartime. And
aigain, in his first term at the AEC, he was
sometimes petty and wrong-headed: but he
was also a valuable official, right about the
hydrogen bomb when many others were
wrong.and right too in pressing for the adop-
tion of the long-range detection system that
warns us of Soviet atomic and thermonuclear
explosions.

Yet there is in Strauss something which
gives him a desperate need to condescend, to
be always agreed with, to be endlessly ap-
proved and admired, to dominate and play
the great man. With his chiefs, like Forrestal
and Eisenhower, he is all pliability. But from
equals and subordinates, he likes no argu-
ment. One of his fellow commissioners has
said of him, “If yon dzsagree with Lewis
about anything, he assumes you're just a fool
at first. But if you go on disagreeing with
him, he concludes you must be a traitor.”

With such a man as Strauss, Oppenheimer
was fated from the first to get on badly. He is
by no means a man without fault. He has
impossibly high intellectual standards. He
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insists on them, with more than a trace of
intellectual snobbery and sometimes with
cold scorn for those who fall short. He has a
good deal of the arrogance of the brightest
boy in class; he is not patient with obtuseness,
and his tongue can be very cutting. All these
faults of Oppenheimer’s were bound to exag-
gerate and indeed to inflame the faults of
Strauss. And the very sign and seal of their
early good relations, Oppenheimer’s election
to the Princeton Institute directorship, was a
natural source of friction. For Strauss thought
he had placed Oppenheimer under an obliga-
tion. Oppenheimer thought he had been
given a job because he was worthy of it. And
‘thus there arose between the two men the
difficulties between the sp 1 _and the spon-
sored that are sadly familiar in all academic
communities, as well as in the larger world.
With fair certainty, one can identify the
crystallizing incident in the trouble bem:n
Oppenheimer and Strauss. It was a disagy
ment over the export of radioammmngg
to our allies. In his first term at the AEC,

Strauss, who knows little of physics and hasa

mania for official secrecy, always opposed the
export of isotopes except for medical par-
poses. The AEC voted Strauss down. but that
did not stop him. And in 1949, Strauss
charged before the Joint Congressional Com-
mitte¢e on Atomic Energy that American
atomic secrets were being endangered by the
export of certain isotopes to Norway.

called by the Joint Committee to: give
his opinion, which he did with far too
devastating brilliance. He made mincemeat
of Strauss's scientifically uninformed thesis.
He pointed out that anything—the knowledge
that two and two makes four—may play a part
in atomic weaponry. “You can use a shovel
for atomic energy.” he said, “—in fact, you do.
You can use a beer bottle for atomic energy—
in fact you do.” Then, not content with mak-
ing Strauss look an ignoramus, Oppenheimer
went on to make him seem small-minded.
“The positive arguments for making [isotopes]
available,” he said, “lie in fostering science:
they lie in making cordial relations with the
scientists and technical people of Western
Europe . . . They lie in doing the decent
thing.”
The AEC Counsel of that period, Joseph

IN THE ensuing ruckus, Oppenh_éimer was
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Volpe, recalls watching Strauss’s face darken
with fury during this testimony: and he re-
members an exchange with Oppenheimer at
the close. “Joe,” said Oppenheimer, “how
did I do?” Looking at Strauss still suffering
from his humiliation, Volpe answered,
“Robert, you did much too well for your own
good.” The memory of Volpe is confirmed
by the behavior of Strauss, for whom the iso-
topes remain, to this day, a major King
Charles’s head. When he became AEC Chair-
man five vears after the defeat in the hearing,
Strauss solemnly exhumed this dead-as-mut-
ton issue, and discoursed on it at great length
and with tedious self-justification at no less
than four commission mecr»ings

YHERE were m htcr disputes to
‘deepen the trouble between Strauss
A and Oppenbam—d:om the Hydro-
gen Bomb, about the closeness of our partner-
'shy with Bmam ana Wada. and about
Senator Hickenlooper's. ﬁmom and nonsensi-
cal charge of “incredible mismanagement”

at the AEC, which Strauss had encouraged in
“his backstairs, way. In the end, the trouble
clearly became very deep and dark indeed.

As often happens, however, a good face was
put upon this rouble for a long time. Not
0o long before the Oppenheimer case began,
Strauss even put his name to a generally de-
sired motion raising Oppenheimer’s salary
from the Princeton Institute. Quite possibly,
the action against Oppenheimer that Strauss
initiated as soon as he became AEC Chair-
‘man was not then really intended to lead to
anything; for there was a delay of several
months between the initiation and fruition.
Very probably, the precipitating factor.was a
series of moves against Oppenheimer by
Senator McCarthy, indicating an imminent
investigation, which left Strauss the choice
between forestalling McCarthy or appearing
before the Grand Inquisitor as Oppenheimer’s
SPOI'ISOI‘.

At any rate, what really matters is the cen-
tral fact. It is impossible to avoid the con-
clusion that this petty, tangled, tragic business
of the old friction and disagreement between
Strauss and Oppenheimer contains one of the
essential clues to the Oppenheimer case.

It is not surprising, then, that Commis-
sioner Henry Smyth’s dissent grimly em-
phasized the role of “powerful personal
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enemies” in the attack on Robert Oppen-
heinter. Yet it would be simpliste, and it
would leave vital questions unanswered, to
_close our inquiry at this point. The part of
Strauss has been shown, and his opinion has
been analyzed. But how about the other AEC
commissioners, all of whom except Smyth
voted not to clear Oppenheimer? And how
about Gordon Gray and Thomas Morgan,
who also voted against clearance, although for
reasons quite different from those given by
Strauss?

It is not good enough to say that Dr. Ward
Evans and Commissioner Smyth devastatingly
answer the majority opinions of the Gray
board and the AEC. It is not good enough to
say, either, that Strauss and Robb staged a
prosecution in the guise of a fact-finding pro-
ceeding, and that this device was remarkably
successful. It 18 not even good enough to

blame the result on the Zeitgeist, as was done

by the great physicist Leo Szilard in the best
of all comments on the Gray-Morgan finding.
Szilard, who is no friend of Oppenheimer's,
said simply: “Unfortunately for all of us,
[Gray and Morgan] are as good men as they
come, and if the}' are affected by the gcncrl]

insanity which is more and more creeping up

on us, who can be counted on to be im-

mune?”

Zeitgeist had important collaborators.
No high, confidential official of his time
was more careful than Robert Oppenheimer
about discussing problems of policy outside
the government councils; bat in couneil, as
his duty required, he freely spoke his mind
and obstinately followed his conscience on
many controversial matters over a long period
of years. He spoke his mind, moreover, with
no amiable willingness to suffer fools gladly.
In several quarters, he thus built up a mas-
sive accumulation of enmity and suspicion,
aroused institutional sensibilities and per-
sonal jealousy and dislike. The record of the
Gray board hearings reeks like a compost
heap with the emotions engendered by old
policy disputes. And it shows, alas, that in
modern America Lewis Strauss is by no means
alone in equating disagreement with dis-
loyalty.
In the somewhat bedragged parade of Op-
penheimer-haters whom Prosecutor Robb led

Tuz truth is that Strauss, Robb, and the
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to the stand, the former chief of the Air War
College, Major General Roscoe C. Wilson,
will serve to typify—for he almost is—an
aroused institution. General Wilson was
called because he once “felt compelled to go
to the Director of Intelligence to express my
concern over what I felt was a pattern of
actiofi . . . not helpful to national defense.”
He solcmnly testified that he was first alerted
by Oppenheimer's “interest in what I call
the internationalizing of atomic energy’—
an interest that was shared, to be sure, by
all the leaders of the American government
and a few others too, such as Bernard M.
Baruch. Then there were other things in this
pattern that worried General Wilson. There
was, for instance, Oppenheimer’s insistence
that it was technically premature to uy to
bm!d nuclear-powered | alrcraft “I don't chal-

enge his technical judgment,” remarked the

Genml pt;intivelr. “but at (he same time

he felt less mmgly opposed to nuclear-
powered ships.”

- Air Force General who saw a se-
curity risk in the suggestion that a ship

can take a nuclear reactor more con-
!tnimtly than an airplane has his perfect
companion picce in the Air Force Chief
Scientist, David Tressel Gnggs who decided
Oppcnhﬂmer was either “confused or pro-
Russian™ because Oppenheimer actively
urged a serious air defense of America’s cities
and industries against Soviet atomic attack.

The issues that Griggs and Oppenheimer
quarreled over must be examined later. It is
enough to say here that the Griggs testimony
is a morass of the kind of inaccuracies that
go with petty bureaucratic talebearing, and
that Griggs unblushingly confessed the origin
of his opinions. There had been “pretty
strong controversies,” he said, and he added
complacently that “when you get involved in
a hot controversy, it is awfully hard not to
question the motives of the people who op-
pose you." This he appeared to consider as
common Christian, or at least common
bureaucratic, practice.

At the same time, Griggs seems to have
some dim inkling that, just possibly, differ-
ences of view on highly arguable policy issues
ought not always to lead to security proceed-
ings. After repeatedly attacking Oppen-
heimer’s loyalty because of past disagree-
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ments, he finished with a grandiose flourish:
“If it ever comes to the day when we can’t
disagree and disagree violently on public and
on national policy, then of course 1 feel it will
be a calamity for our democracy. 1 think per-
haps I have said enough.”

He had indeed, and so we may leave Griggs
for the most interesting and complex, the
most distinguished, and the most demanding
of sympathetic understanding among all these
Oppenheimer haters,

R. Epwarp Terier, author of the
D “brilliant invention” that made the
hydrogen bomb possible, is one of
the great scientists of our time. This strange
genius (in himsell the final argument for a
security system that allows for the
tional and the eccentric) is 2 man all hghtmd
dark, gentleness and anger, serene high
thought and furious personal feeling. With
Oppenheimer he has had a mest curious
relationship. official yet somehow intense and
tragic, which can be traced through tbepﬂlgﬂ
of the Gray board record.
Its beginnings at Los Alamos. are revealed
in the testimony of the respected Dr. Hans

Bethe. Bethe told the Gray board that “m’

enterprise qunc as hard” as the job done at
Los Alamos “had ever been altﬂnpled be-
fore”; and that the “success was due mostly
to [0ppcnhcimer s Icadcrshlp Oppen-
heimer, said Bethe, was the “man who really
understood everything and was recognized
[by the other scientists] as superior in judg-
ment . . . and knowledge to us all.” But as
usually happens in any large community with
an admired leader, there were a few, a'very
few, who sharply rejected Oppenheimer’s
leadership. One of these was Edward Teller,
who served under Bethe in the important Los
Alamos Theoretical Division.

Said Bethe: “I relied . . . 1 hoped to rely
very heavily on [Teller] to help our work . . ..
It turned out he did not want to co-operate.
He did not want to work on . . . the line of
rescarch that everybody else had agreed to as
the [ruitful line. . . . So that in the end there
was no choice but to relieve him of work in
the general line of development of Los
Alamos, and to permit him to pursue his own
ideas entirely unrelated to World War 11.”

Teller's own testimony shows a great deal
more. There is Teller in wartime, fixed in
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his “own ideas” (which already concerned
thermonuclear weapons) and objecting sharp-
ly to Oppenheimer’s wartime policies. There
is Teller, just postwar, bitterly disappointed
because thermonuclear development was not
already being pushed on the scale of another
Manhattan District. There is Teller blaming
Oppenheimer for this decision, which was
made by many people and on the highest
level of government. And there is Teller
again blaming Oppenheimer for the postwar
slump at Los Alamos, at a time when Oppen-
heimer was infuriating the rest of the scien-
tific commtmity by backing the May-Johnson
bill, with its prolongation of military control,
because he thought this was the only way to
hold Los Alamos together.

Then there is Teller hurrying to Wash-
ington after JoE 1, the code name for the first
Soviet atomic test, to press for an immediate
H-bomb program on the largest scale. And
there is Teller infuriated by the adverse
recommendation of the AEC General Ad-
visory Committee, and once more blaming
Oppenheimer alone for this unanimous ac-
tion of one of the most high-powered boards
ever assembled.

NALLY, there is the last and the some-
how conclusive episode, for which one
L. must return to the testimony of Bethe.
President Truman had announced his deci-
sion to build the H-bomb at all costs. As the
leading expert and grand advocate of the ulti-
‘mate weapon, Teller immediately became the
key man in the project at Los Alamos. But
"Teller regarded the great laboratory as Enemy
Ground, no doubt because he thought of it as
Oppenheimer Territory. He complained to
the Air Force authorities—and the ears of
David Griggs were eagerly receptive—that his
work was being hampered and sabotaged.
He demanded a second laboratory, a dupli-
cate of Los Alamos, in which to do his job.
Bethe, who was by now working under Teller,
had to go to Washington to explain that
Teller was talking nonsense. And nonsense
it proved to be; for Teller’s “brilliant inven-
tion” only indicated the right approach, while
the Los Alamos staff triumphantly did the
immense job of designing and building the
H-bomb.
Great power of intellect, an obsessive con-
centration on a single object, above all an
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obsessive conviction that one man and one
man only stood in the way of attaining that
object—these are the qualities that stand out
in the Teller story. Before the Gray board,
Teller pictured Oppenheimer as a sort of
mass-Svengali, somehow commanding the
sheeplike obedience of scores of equally dis-
tinguished, extremely opinionate#l, and incor-
rigibly individualistic leaders of American
science, and always swaying the majority of
American physicists to oppose and obstruct
Teller. Yet Teller also told the Gray board
that he believed Oppenheimer was “loyal to
the United States.” And when Gordon Gray
asked him whether “it would endanger the
common defense and security to grant clear-
ance to Dr. Oppenheimer,” Teller réplied
with a fine display of inullml precision.

“I believe,” he said, . . . that Dr. Oppen-
heimer’s character is such that he would not

knowingly and willingly do anything that is

designed to endanger the safety of this coun-

try. To the extent, therefore, that your ques-
tion is directed towards intent, I would say
I do not see any reason to deny clearance. If

it is a question of wisdom and judgment, as

demonstrated by actions since 1945, then 1
would say it would be wiser not to gramt
clearance. I must say that I am myself a little
bit confused on this issue, particularly as it
refers to a person of Oppenheimer’s prestige
and influence.”

I1I. What Is Security?

pwaArRD TELLER'S final statement to the
E Gray board deserves to be closely ana-
lyzed. First, he said that Robert Op-
penheimer would not “knowingly” take any
action contrary to this country’s interests.
Second, however, he questioned Oppen-
heimer’s “judgment,” implying that Oppen-
heimer’s advice on great issues of national
policy had been injudicious and unhelpful.
In other words, Dr. Teller said that Oppen-
heimer was not a security risk under any sane
definition of the term. But Teller also told
the Gray board that he would not grant
security clearance to Oppenheimer, simply
because Oppenheimer’s judgment had dif-
fered from Teller's judgment.
Whether Oppenheimer was right, or Teller
was right, in these matters on which they
differed, does not affect the question that

Teller raised. It is a very simple question
When you do not like a man's advice on
policy, do you simply strike him off your list
of advisers, or do you drag him before a
security board and hold him a security risk—
which really means, if it any longer means
anything at all, that his advice was evilly
motivated?

This question is crucial, for Oppenheimer’s
loyalty and discretion were held proven and
there was no hint of blackmailability, or any-
thing of that sort. Instead, behind every
accusation except that of the Berkeley intelli-
gence officer, Colonel Pash, there was always
the same background of what Griggs called
“hot” controversy.

Speaking for theé majority of the Atomic
Energy Commission, Admiral Strauss for-
mally declared that “Dr. Oppenhﬂmcr was,
of course, entitled to his opinion.” He thereby
denied that Oppetﬂmmer was being held a
security risk because of the hot controversies
of the past. But on the face of the record
this Strauss declaration-denial was both mis-

leading and hypocritical.

HE one important new item in the

original AEC charges against Oppen-

heimer, drawn up under Strauss’s own
direction, related to Oppenheimer’s opinions
about the H-bomb. Oppenheimer was in fact
tried for these and other policy opinions be-
fore the Gray board, at such length that at
least half the record is an inquiry into his
opinions. The Gray board, in its most im-
portant finding, held him guilty on his opin-
ions. And it is abundantly clear that if it had
not been for his opinions there would have
been no Oppenheimer case. For Lewis Strauss,
Roger Robb and the Zeitgeist, all working
together, still needed the allies who had been
recruited and the climate that had been en-
gendered by Oppenhcimer’s forthrightness on
great issues of national policy.

One is tempted to avoid looking into
this matter of Oppenheimer’s policy ad-
vice, since it has no relevance at all to
the question of his loyalty or disloyalty,
security or insecurity, unless a wrong motive
can be shown. There was no such showing,
as the Gray board acknowledged; yet the mat-
ter of Oppenheimer’s policy advice cannot
be avoided, because it is relevant to the Op-
penheimer case as a demonstration of how
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our American security system now works.

There were, then, three main pieces of
advice that Oppenhcimer gave his govern-
ment, which ended by getting him into trou-
ble. All three were subtly inter-related, since
all three in part at least grew out of Oppen-
heimer's concept of the right American world
strategy. And of these pieces of advice, the
first was the one most people think was
wrong, the advice about the hydrogen bomb.

as it were, was the Truman-Louis John-

son disarmament program of 1949-50.
“Defense economy™ had left the country with
no serious defense except air-atomic striking
power. The Strategie Air Command :rselﬁms
in far from satisfactory sﬁngc at. that time
and our world strategy . €
the effects—to a quite !arge déme en' he
psychologlcal effects—of our oly
And in September 1949 the Soviets brafﬁtlia.t
monopoly by successfully ﬁmg their first
atomic bomb.

Tm‘. stage for that advice, its backdrop

The neusofjmldmbdmlanﬂ‘
Edward Teller,

widespread consternation.
Dr. Ernest Lawrence, and I,.awrences side-
kick, Dr. L. W. Alvarez, enplaned ﬁomﬁe

West coast to urge an immediate, all-out effort.

to top the Soviet A-bomb with an American
H-bomb. Commissioner Strauss, the Air
Force and the other services, the Joint Con-
gressional Committee, were all rapidly
mobilized. In this agitated climate, AEC
Chairman David Lilienthal asked for the
views of his General Advisory Committee.

And toward the end of October the grandees.

of the GAC assembled, with Oppenheimer in’
the chair; and after the most prayerful discus-
sion they recommended against the “crash”
program Teller was urging.

It must have taken considerable moral
courage to make that recommendation. And
it was by no means so eccentric as most peo-
ple suppose, for the objections to the H-bomb
crash program were very strong indeed.

First, there were the moral objections. Any-
one who thinks it was immoral to feel moral
objections to the H-bomb must either know
very little about the absolute weapons or be
sadly in need of training as a human being.
Beyond that, these need not be discussed.

Second, there were extremely important
technical objections. At that period, our
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atomic stockpile was not yet adequate. As
then conceived by Teller and everyone else,
the H-bomb would have consumed an enor-
mous quantity of fissionable raw stuff, with
much less return in total explosive power
than could be got from an equivalent invest-
ment in more A-bombs. It was not at all clear
whether many A-bombs should be sacrificed
to get one H-bomb. It was not at all clear,
either, whether the kind of H-bomb that was
being discussed could ever be built at all; and
in the end it never was built. In 1950, Dr.
Teller's “brilliant invention” changed the
whole picture, opening the way to the large,
economy-sized H-bomb with a lithium-
,hgdnde core. And we have Teller's own testi-
m-y Lhat when M%t announced his “in-
2 ion," Oppenheimer warmly congratu-
jared that he would have
1 ,ﬁr the 1949 H-bomb de-
together different weapon had

RD, th as also a strategic objection

to the H-be b, felt particularly strong-
= ly by Qppenhmmer and Conant, and
cld:rly expressed in the unhappy letter that
Qppcuhmmu wrote Conant before the fate-
ful G‘AC ‘mecting. Here is the relevant

‘What concerns me is really not the tech-
nical problem. I am not sure the miserable
thing [i.e. the H-bomb] will work, nor that
it can be gotten to a target except by oxcart.
It seems likely to me even further to worsen
the unbalance of our present war plans.

" What does worry me is that this thing ap-
pears to have caught the imagination, both
of the Congressional and the military peo-
ple, as the answer to the problem posed by
[the Sowiet atomic test]. Tt would be folly
to oppose the exploration of this weapon.
We have always known it had to be done;
and it does have to be done, although it
appears to be singularly proof against any
form of experimental approach. But that
we become committed to it as the way to
save the country and save the peace, ap-
pears to me full of dangers.

Behind these passages we have italicized was
Oppenheimer’s conviction that an unthinking
and unqualified dependence on a stock of
absolute weapons, as a sole defense of this
country, had now become infinitely perilous.
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This magical theory of defense was already
enthroned at the Pentagon, it must be re-
membered, in the obstreperous person of Sec-
retary Johnson. The common reaction to
Joe I-"Well, the Soviets have the A-bomb
but we'll just get the H-bomb, and then
everything will still be all right"—seemed so
wrong to Oppenheimer that he perhaps over-
reacted against it. This over-reaction can also
be observed in the testimony of Dr. Conant,
who told the Gray board that he had feared
an American H-bomb because he expected it

to breed groundless complacency, and so to

cause all the many needs of a balanced de-
fense to be scamped or neglected.

vents have proved the wisdom of Op-
Epenheimers and Conant’s fear of the

magical theory of defense by 10thing
but absolute weapons. Nonetheless, Oppen-
heimer now acknowledges that the GAC rec-
ommendation of 1949 was mistaken, both
because the way to prevent. groundlm
placency is to fight it head on; and because
theGACd:dnotmthetWDamplequm-
tions asked by President Truman, when he
was first told of the H-bomb debate by Ad-
miral Sidney Souers. “Can the Russians make
this thing?” Truman inquired. “And if so,
how can we help making it?”

It should be noted, however, that in
1949-50 the anti-H-bomb recommendation of
the General Advisory Committee caused
hardly more than a temporary ripple. Con-
ant, Fermi, Smith, DuBridge, Rabi, Rowe,
Buckley, and Oppenheimer presented a solid
front together. In those happier days, no one
was foolish enough to suppose that the unani-
mous verdict of such a group could be un-
patriotic in purpose. Except for Edward
Teller, no one was foolish enough to suppose,
either, that all the members of a group of
this caliber could be swayed against their
better judgments by the mesmeric influence
of Svengali-Oppenheimer. President Truman
rejected the General Advisory Committee
recommendation. The H-bomb program was
launched. And the position taken by the
GAC was generally forgotten, until later and
quite different advice given by Oppenheimer
caused certain powerful persons to look for
sticks to beat him with.

The next act of our drama of opinion
occurred after an interval of two years, in

landremnmmﬂatm

1951. This time the backdrop was the
bloody ground fighting in Korea, the in-
adequacy of our tactical air effort over the
Korean battlefields, and the vast convulsive
Western struggle 1o rearm, centering around
NATO, that Korea had set in motion. For
all these reasons Project VistA was started
by the Pentagon. Under the leadership of
Drs. DuBridge and Charles Lauritsen, Vista
was to study the tactical use of atomic bombs
and related problems.

In the GAC, Oppenheimer had taken the
lead in pressing tactical A-bomb develop-
ment. When the Vista scientists had as-
sembled their data, he was called in as a con-
sultant; and at the request of DuBridge and

Lauvitsen, he drafted the fifth chapter of the

Vm'a setting forth its conclusions

In two important
ways, this chaprcr Oppcnhclmcr drafted was

a significant turning point. It outlined what

is now the approved American doctrine for
tactical use of atomic weapons. And, while
still in draft form, it was taken to Paris by

imer, to be shown to General
Dwight ] D. Eisenhower, who then welcomed
the Vista conclusions with intense enthusi-
asm and made them the basis of a radical
revision of his Western European defense

T NFORTUNATELY, however, there was one
l I thing in Oppenheimer's Vista draft
that made it as unwelcome to the Air
Force Staff as it had been welcome to Eisen-
hower and his staff at SHAPE. Oppenheimer,
who was well aware we were entering the era
of atomic plenty, proposed that the Joint
Chiefs of Staff make a new division of our
atomic stockpile, allocating part to reserve,
part for tactical use, and part to the Strategic
Air Command.

The Air Generals, no great believers in
atomic plenty, had been fighting tooth and
claw for five years to keep the entire atomic
stockpile as the Strategic Air Command’s
monopoly asset. Compared to SAC, the Air
Generals cared very little indeed about tac-
tical air, which was one of the reasons for the
difficulties in Korea. Now Oppenheimer was
suggesting that the Joint Chiefs
the rules, and aHocate some of SAC’s hard-
won bombs to tactical uses. This automati-
cally reduced most of the leaders of the Air
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Staff to a condition of apoplectic fury.*

Then came the drama of opinion’s third
act, in 1952. This time the back-drop was the
increasingly alarming intelligence about the
growzh of the Soviet atomic stockpile. about
- the rising power of the Soviet Strategic Air
Army, about the first Jong-range reconnais-
sance flights over this hemisphere. And, be-
sides this immediate backdrop, there was also
some earlier background.

~ 1950, JoE I had started a battle in the
National Security Council. The majority

had insisted that the new Soviet atomic
bomb made continental air defense an urgent

matter. The Air Genenls who cared even lcﬁc

about air defense tham tactical air,

pooh-poohed the whole idea. But over the

angry opposition of the Air Force, the Na-
tional Security Council had issued a directive

giving the air defense of this cm'mw:f the

highest defense priority. In r@lucmnt obu‘li-
ence to this directive, Project L

had been established at the Massachusetts In-
stitute of Technology, to study the air defense
problem. Since then, as the intelligence indi-
cated, the problem had grown urgent. And
now, in the summer of 1952, LincorN had
collected its data; it had made certain bril-

liant technological brtak-througﬁ; axixl“a_;

large number of the country’s leading scien-

tists were gathering to act as consultants of a.
spec:al Summer Study Group. which would

organize the Lincorn results in. a coherent
lan. _
Even before the Lincorx Summer Study

Group began its work, the Air Staff was on

the qui vive. We have the testimony of Dr,
Jerrold Zacharias, a leading member of Proj-
ect Lincoun, that Air Force Chief Scientist
Griggs attempted to “sabotage” the effort at
the very start. Griggs was repelled, however.
Oppenheimer, Dr. Rabi, Dr. Lauritsen, and
many others gathered as planned. And in the
end, the Summer Study Group produced a
powerful report which is now proving to have
been another great turning point in na-

*David Griggs’ testimony indicates that there were
other things unfavorable to the Straiegic Air Com-
mand in this cimer draft of the Visra re-
port’s fifth chapter. But, after the Gray Board
hearings ended, the original draft was found by
Oppenheimer; and it provided documentary proof
that Griggs’ memory was at fault in this matter.

N program
for “another Maginot
' ‘tical, long-hair plan at that. This crude propa-

sﬁﬁ& was further combined with a mounting

tional defense planning. This report made
two main points:

(1) That the Soviets would soon have the
air-atomic capability of destroying the United
States.

(2) That owing to the recent technological
break-throughs, an effective American air de-
fense could now be constructed, although at
very great cost.

You would have supposed the Air Force
would have welcomed the report. Instead the
Air Force authorities first sought to prevent

- the Lincowx results from being communicated

to the rest of the government. Then, when
the results were nonetheless commumicated
and air defense became @ serious issue, the
vmﬂlwem out from the Air Staff that the
: Wth but a plan
line,” and an imprac-

attack on Oppenheimer, portrayed

as the devil of the smnia Study Group.
‘There was talk of a sinister cabal called
ZORC (standing for Zacharias. Oppenheimer,
Rabi and-—illogically—Charles, from the first
name of Lauritsen) that was darkly plotting
against the security of the United States. A

 Fortuné article full of snide hints about

Oppenheimer’s motives was directly inspired
by the Office of the Chicf of Air Staff. And
the issue of Oppenheimer’s loyalty was offi-
cially raised in government councils.

o THE ordinary American citizen, who
is not familiar with Big Bomber Gen-
erals and Battleship Admirals, these go-

- ings-on may appear downright fantastic. Yet

they are described without exaggeration, as
these reporters, who lived through all these
episodes, can testify from first-hand knowl-
edge. And, if you consider all the Factors, the
fantasy is not so extreme as it may appear.

In brief, the Big Bomber Generals, the
champions of strategic air power, have always
dominated the American Air Force. For hu-
man reasons, Big Bomber Generals are pos-
sessed by the same passionate feeling for their
own special weapons, even at the expense of
all other air wea , that was also the mark
of the Battleship Admirals who fought the
carriers so long and so bitterly. Moreover, the
Big Bomber Generals were and are more
justified than the Battleship Admirals. Since
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the end of the last war, strategic air power
has been our only form of offensive power
against the major enemy; and it has been
absolutely vital to have an adequate and effi-
cient Strategic Air Command.

HE fight for an adequate Strategic Air
Command has been long and hard, and
it has been especially envenomed when-
ever appropriations were in question. Zealots
who must endlessly fight for their beliefs hu-
manly tend to lose their sense of proportion
—to feel that the object of their zeal is all that
matters, and that all else is nothing. Hence
the leaders of the air staff saw one thing, and

one thing only, in the Lincoun Program for

American Air Defense. They saw that it would
make heavy demands for funds. They further

feared, and perhaps reasonably feared, that

the economizing politicians might partly snb-
tract the funds for air defense from the appro-
priations of the Strategic Air Command. And
that danger (which the Lincowx scientists
had not considered) was enough to persu

the air staff that the Lincotx air defense

plan was nathing lessdunaamm insidi-
ous, indirect attack on strategic air power.

All these points emerge very. _in the
Gray board hearings. if you read
mony of David Griggs and then subtract the
many errors of fact shown up in it by the
testimony of Rabi, Zacharias, and others. Of
course LincoLy was not a plot agamst SAC,
any more than VisTa was a plot against SAC.
Of course the Summer Study Group’s idea
was the one Dr, Rabi neatly expressed when
he was asked whether a belief in air defense
necessarily proved hostility to strategic air
power: “But there are the two arms,” said the
mild Rabi patiently. “There is the punching
arm, and there is the guard. You have to have
both.”

Oppenheimer said the same thing even
better, when he remarked that he had “never
seen a first-class prize fighter with a complete
glass jaw.” The fact that this country dare
not continue with a complete glass jaw is
now being officially recognized—belatedly, and
with insufficient urgency—by the Eisenhower
Administration. The Summer Study Group's
recommendations are now being acted upon,
but after two precious years have been wasted.

But surely it is no longer necessary to labor
the point, in the new era of the Soviet hydro-

BRSU'

gen bomb, that Oppenheimer and the scien-
tists were right in urging a serious American
air defense. The opposition to the air defense
idea, which incidentally defied national pol-
icy as laid down in the Security Council direc-
tive of 1950, was the blind, angry reaction of
a military bureaucracy both set in its ways
and easily irritated by military proposals of
civilian origin. The question remains why
Oppenheimer was chosen, among so many
others, as the particular target of this irrita-
tion. The answer comes in two parts,

N THE one hand, the political follies
O of Oppenheimer’s prewar years made
him vulnerable, as he was well aware

~for one of the things that stand out in this
story is Oppenheimer’s cool courage in chal-
kﬂsmsa:e mepwcr groups of the gov-
with this knowledge of his own

ity alway in his mind. And be-

ppenheimer was vulnerable. the
maﬁm to uy to smear his past politics
over onto hll advice could hardly
be resisted by the little men who were upset
by that advice. On the other hand, the Air
Force zealots quite rightly smelled, if they
did not quite. understand, the difference be-
tween heimer’s strategic concept and
their own. They still believed that America
could be satisfactorily and uniquely defended
by strategic air power and atomic weapons.
They had a lot of support for that belief—
and still-have, for that matter; the present
Secretary of Defense has clearly adopted this
theary to suit his budgetary convenience.
After the Soviet atomic bomb, on the other
hand, Oppenheimer had enOug‘h sense to
realize that the “grand deterrent” or “massive
retaliation” theory of American strategy had
become pure nonsense: He did not oppose
strategic air power. He certainly wanted to
avoid a war of absolute destruction with the
absolute weapons if that were possible, but
he also worried about whether we had enough
strategic air power and whether SAC was
modern enough. Furthermore, he could
foresee that mere “massive retaliation™
would become very cold comfort, when the
thing to be retaliated against was the total
destruction of these United States, He could
foresee the weakening of will, the paralysis
of policy that total peril would inevitably
beget, and indeed has already partly begotten
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in Britain and Western Europe. And he
could foresee that in time of total peril, there
would be an increasing reluctance to respond
to local challenges, such as those in Korea
and Indochina; and his correctness on this
point has been proven too.

For all these reasons, Oppenheimer pleaded
for a more balanced defense system:; and
he made his plea before the march of events

“rendered his reasons comprehensible to most
people. So the zealots’ attack on him was
organized, and the ground was prepared for
the Oppenheimer case. On this aspect of the
case the final word was said by Dr. Vannevar
Bush, in a superb explosion of indignation
to the Gray board.

The Grand Old Man of American science

told the board, point blank, that the AEC’s
statement of charges ought to be sent back for
re-drafting, because it included the charge
that Oppenheimer had upplul the hydrogen
bomb. This, he said, was qmuupahleuf
being interpreted as placing a2 man on trial
because he held opinions, and had ﬁlt
tementy to express them."”

“If this country ever gets . . that near to
the Russian system,” Bush con_hmwd. “we
are certainly not in any condition to attempt
to lead the free world. . . . We have been
slipping backward in our mamtcmu& of the
Bill of Rights. . . . I think . . . no board should
ever sit on a question in this country of
whether a man [served] his country or not
because he expressed strong opinions, If you
want to try that case, you can try me."”

In those brave words, Dr. Bush was indiet-
ing the whole American security system. His
single indictment was enough to damn, yet
the record of the Oppenheimer case contains
half a dozen other Po:ms which Dr. Bush
might have attacked with equal justice.

onsiper, first, the organization of the

case. As Gordon Gray repeatedly

asserted, it was supposed to be a fact-
finding proceeding. In procedures it was
nonetheless a prosecution, and in organiza-
tion it shows the very opposite of a serious
desire to find out the facts.

The proof of that is simple. All the wit-
nesses called by the AEC were hostile to Op-
penheimer in one way or another. Prosecutor
Robb was content to marshall his parade of
Oppenheimer-haters. It was Lloyd Garrison

MAGAZINE

who called to the stand Conant and Fermi,
DuBridge, Bacher, Bush, Bethe, John J.
McCloy, George F. Kennan, Zacharias, Rowe,
Lauritsen, Lilienthal, John von Neumann,
Gordon Dean, and even General Groves and
Colonel Lansdale.

In the air defense case, for instance, did
Robb really prefer Griggs' wildly distorted
version of the facts to the solid and detailed
evidence of Zacharias, Rabi, and Lauritsen?
And if so, what kind of fact-finding was this?

GAIN, consider the way this case was man-
aged. As has been shown already, one
set of ¢ was originally specified

by the AEC; Gray and Morgan convicted

mmhe:mer on qm another set of charges;

rejected the main Gray-
M ‘held Oppenheimer a
mlyrﬁohstmatlurdmofchtrges
eve ntioned until then. The peculiarity
‘process is made all the more glaring
by ﬁh mm ‘that sustaining Gray and
: n would have been fatal to Strauss. For
mast of the other great American physicists
‘had fully shared Oppenheimer’s lack of en-
thusiasm for the H-Bomb, and thus the AEC
could not dbt to accept this lack of enthusi-
asm.as proof of risk to security.

If these are the methods—if the guardians
of pur security may continuously make up
mnew charges as old ones are refuted or found
inexpedient—when or where can the de-
fendant-citizen hope to find solid ground?

Then too, consider the presentation of the
case, and particularly the strange episode of
the last-minute publication of the transcript
of the Gray board hearings. During the hear-
ings, Chairman Gray strongly warned every
witness that all that passed was strictly confi-
dential, and would never see the light of day.
But the public reception of the Gray-Morgan
opinion was puzzled, cold, and unfriendly. As
it came time for Strauss to hand down his
own condemnation of Oppenheimer, the
climate was decidedly unfavorable. At this
juncture, despite all that Gray had said, the
transcript was hurriedly printed by order of
Admiral Strauss. It was handed to the press—
all 992 pages of it—cighteen hours before the
deadline set for publication. By a most singu-
lar coincidence, Prosecutor Robb’s star client,
the McCarthy incense-swinger, Fulton Lewis,
Jr., broke the deadline immediately to tell
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his radio audience about all the ugliest stuff
that the transcript contained. No one has
explained how Lewis so rapidly located these
gamy morsels.” Other reporters, at any rate,
had the utmost difficulty in finding their way
through the massive document. So most of
them followed Lewis, headlining precisely the
charges of disloyalty that Gray, Morgan, and
even Strauss had held to be utterly um-
. founded. And thus the stage was admirably,
if somewhat artificially, set for the Strauss
opinion, which followed hard on the heels of
these misleading headlines.

Nor is this all. A main buttress of Prose-

cutor Robb's case was the group of Air Force

documents in which the zealots spewed out

their suspicions of Oppenheimer. These docu-

ments were communicated to the Gray board

before the hearings began. These documents

were never communicated to Oppenhemc:
on the grounds that they were highly classi-
fied, and thus Oppenheimer and his counsel
wercrcqmred h-ommumﬁmnhgam
accusations which were never fully known or
forthrightly made. But since the hearings
ended, Admiral Strauss has made the attempt

he so strangely did not make during the hear-

ings to have at least one of these documents

declassified, and it is a fair bet that as the in-
wardness of the Oppenheimer casehegms to
be more widely understood, these same docu-
ments that were always hidden from Oppen-
heimer will be spread before the gencral
public to start a counter-fire.

If these things are permitted, why may not
the American government blacken the name
of any honest citizen it chooses? After all, we
are officially encouraged, nowadays, to write
poison-pen letters'about one another in secur-
ity’s sacred name. The security files bulge
with them. What could be easier than to
daub the ugliest dirt on the most innocent
man by fishing the appropriate nastiness out
of the files and giving it solemn and official
publication?

INALLY, consider with the utmost care,
consider as an American citizen who
may some day be called to answer as
Oppenheimer was called, the standards of
security that this case establishes. Look, for
these standards, to the opinion of Gordon
Gray and Thomas Morgan. Look. and look
well, at these things Gray and Morgan said

about this man whom they then held a
“security risk™":

We find no cvidence of disloyalty. In-
deed, we have before us much responsible
and positive evidence of the loyalty and
love of counuy of [Robert Oppen-
heimer]. .

Dr. Oppenhcuw served his country be-
cause it sought him. The impact of his
“influence was felt immediately and in-
creased progressively as his services were
used. The nation owes [such scientists],
we believe, a great debt of gratitude for
loyal and magnificent service. This is par-
ticularly true with respect to Dr. Oppen-
heimer. . . . the Board had before it clo-
qucm and conﬂm testimony of Dr. Op-
er's deep devotion to his coun-

u".ﬂ;: .HIVC given particular attention to
the question of his loyalty, and we have
come o tlndeu conclusion, which should

be :  to the people of this country,
that he is a loyal citizen. .
It must [allo]huui dut Dr.

heimer seems to have had a high degree of
discretion reflecting an unusual ability to
keep to himself vital secrets.

O HERE is this man, passionately spoken

\ for by the great men of his profession
and his fimest colleagues in the govern-
ment, his “deép devotion” to his country
acknowledged, his immense services admitted,
his perfect discretion approved, with not
an jota of evidence in the record that he

ever, at any time since he became a mature

man, failed to put this nation’s interests first
and the rest nowhere. And what has hap-
pened to him? On the evidence that has been
shown, by the methods that have Dbeen de-
scribed, for the reasons that have been sug-
gested, and by such accusers as have been dis-
played, he has been held a “security risk,”
fit to serve his country no longer, pilloried
before his fellow citizens and the world,
debarred from continuing his immense con-
tribution to the true security of the United
States.

Earlier in this report, we have said that the
ruling of the Atomic Energy Commission dis-
graced Robert Oppenheimer. But we were
wrong. This act did not disgrace Robert
Oppenheimer: it dishonored and disgraced
the high traditions of American freedom.
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THE OPPENHEIMER CASE

by ARTHUR M. SCHLESINGER, JR.

18 not likely that a great many people will
bother to read In the Matter of J. Robert
Oppenheimer: Transcript of Hearing Be-
fore Personnel Security Board (United

States Atomic Energy Commission), though it is
available for #2.75 from the Superintendent of Doc-
uments. Its 992 pages are in the finest of the Gov-
emnment Printing Office’s fine print; its form is
meandering and discursive; its points areoften con-
fused and obscure. Yet it is a work of the greatest
fascination and the highest significance. It offers
an unequaled picture of the paradoxes of national
security. It provides, in addition, the first authen-
tic series of glimpses into the new, post-atomie,
scientific-military world which in the past dozen
years has risen behind and beyond and above lay
American society,

Without our fully realizing it or their fully desir-
ing it, this new community of weapons scientists
has become in many ways the arbiter of our des-
tinies. One regrets that no American novelist
seems to have been attracted by this phenomenon;
we do not even have the picture which C. P. Snow
and Nigel Balchin have provided of its British
counterpart. This lack of a sense of human back-
ground makes the impression which emerges from
the Oppenheimer record all the more strange and
shadowed. The record is not only fragmentary in
its portrayal of the new technocracy; but too much
of what is portrayed is unintelligible to the layman,

because of both the difficulty of the scientific ideas
and the exeigions of the security officer.

Yet an impression does emerge —a singular,
tantalizing, incomplete impression of this new
world where science and policy intersect at the
point of maximum destruction; where the life and
death of civilization may hang on incomprehensible
equations ‘fed into giant calculating machines;
where yet the old human emotions — love, loyalty,
envy, hate — are still alive and powerful. It is a
world of machines and processes — cyclotrons and
reactors, heavy water piles and neutron diffusion.
But it is also a world of men. What sort of men are
these who inhabit this world, where so little can be
freely communicated save images of destruction
and death?

Their names have been known long enough —
Oppenheimer, Rabi, Fermi, Teller, Bethe, Bacher,
Zacharias, and the rest; but they have been words
in headlines, faces flashing by in newsreels, the
agents of catastrophic but vague experiments in
distant places, shadowy magicians of the atomic
age. One merit of the Oppenheimer transeript is
that it presents these men to us in action, and not so
much as scientists, impersonal and unchallengeable,
but as human beings, involved in the inquiry into
the loyalty and security of the one among them who
more than any other was considered by the public
to be their archetype and their leader. Inquisition
both reveals and diminishes them. At the same
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time, it admits sharp light (too much, according to
some specialists in security) into those debates in
the back rooms which may already, by now, have
shaped the future or non-future of civilization.

2

Tms: scientists, it must be said, have long resented
the secrecy in which they must live; that is one of
the counts the state has against them. One feels al-
most, at moments, that the final struggle of our
time will be between the scientists and the security
officers — between those whose business it is to dis-
cover and propagate truth, and those whose busi-
ness it is to conceal it. But science, now that it has
invaded the world of policy and power, cannot hope
to escape the burden of security., These scientists
are not fools. They know that their secrets in the
hands of others — in the hands of the Communists
— might be fatal; so the tension between dissemi-
nation and suppression is deep in themselves. They
form a compact, taut community — brilliant men
working under indescribable pressure on unimag-
inable weapons, cut off by *“security” from the rest

of society, thrust in terribly upon themselves and

their science. Los Alamos during the war only car-
ried this isolation to its logical extreme — the troop
patrols around the perimeter, the monitored phone
calls, the censored mail, the surveillance of person-
nel away from the base. But all scientists working in
the higher reaches of the weapons field continue
to dwell in Los Alamoses of their own construetion,

For such men, science and life must become in the
end almost indistinguishable. Each is joined indis-
solubly with his colleagues in the excitement and
beauty of the scientific passion. Each may be di-
vided irrevoecably from them as technical diver-

gences turn, under the pressure, into intolerable

differences of personality and philosophy. The line
between fusion and fission is close, for humans as
well as for atoms. So Oppenheimer, who loathed the
thermonuclear bomb as a dreadful weapon, could
exult, “From a technical point of view it was a
sweet and lovely and beautiful job.” So Teller, who
admired Oppenheimer and helped drive him from
public service, could say with sincere regret, *“There
is no person whose [riendship 1'd value more than
Oppie's if the circumstances of our deep technical
disagreements would permit it,”

These were the men now presenting their testi-
mony to the AEC’s Personnel Security Board — to
Gordon Gray, former Secretary of the Army, presi-
dent of the University of North Carolina, brisk,
competent, unassuming, and businesslike; to Dr.
Ward V. Evans, the aging chemist from Loyola,
with his seemingly aimless but sometimes piere-
ing questions and his sociable inquiries about old
friends or students the witnesses might have en-
countered; to Thomas A. Morgan, former president
of the Sperry Corporation, silent and enigmatic.

Witnesses friendly to Oppenheimer sought to pre-
pare the Board for the queer inhabitants of this
post-atomic scientific world, One such witness was
General Groves, the wartime commander of the
Manhattan District. Before the Board, he was an
odd and not unimpressive mixture of candor and
arrogance, essentially banal and unimaginative in
his judgments, but still trailing the glory of the
great war experience which for a moment had
brought out the strength within him and in which
he had played so honorable, if at times so reluctant,
a role. He spoke of the scientists as one might of
one's children — they were men “who would be-
come violently excited about the most minor thing.
. . . They were tense and nervous and they had to
be soothed all the time.” He understood that sci-
entists could have little sympathy with secumy

requirements. “I never held this against them,”

said General Groves, “because I knew that their
whole lives from the time they entered college al-
most had been based on the dissemination of knowl-
edge.” They had fought the General incessantly,
forcing him into the ion of having to accept
things they knew he disapproved. Yet “they were
the kind of men that made the project a success. If
I had a group of yes men we never would have
gotten anywhere.”

John Lansdale, Jr., said much the same thing —

Lansdale who had been a lieutenant colonel and se-
curity officer at Los Alamos and is now a la.wyer in
Cleveland; in 1944 exercised over the commission-
ing,of Communists by the Army, in 1954 exercised
over other matters (“I think that the hysteria of
the times over communism is extremely danger-
ous"™). Like Groves, Lansdale had been much ex-
asperated by the scientists. In crisp and effective
testimony, he described as *“almost maddening” the
tendency of the “more brilliant people to extend in
their own mind their competence and independence
of decision in fields in which they have no compe-
tence.” Yet Lansdale, again like Groves, was pre-
pared to accept arrogance as the price of genius and
to take calculated risks. Both had agreed in reject-
ing the original recommendations of security offi-
cials that J. Robert Oppenheimer be barred from
atomic work. Both believed that he should be
placed in charge of Los Alamos in 1948. Neither, in
the spring of 1954, saw any reason to regret this
decision.

Oppenheimer was, of course, the first of the sci-
entists to appear. Not always his own best witness,
he gave precise, fluent, impatient testimony, filled
with the wonder and disgust which might afﬂlct a
man of reason compelled to contemplate past im-
becilities, The AEC counsel, Roger Robb, vigorous
and bludgeoning, intent not to comprehend but to
indict, took full advantage of Oppenheimer’s pre-
dicament. Most of the hammering came over the
indication to Oppenheimer in 1948 by his friend
Haakon Chevalier that, if he wanted to transmit
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secrets to Soviet scientists, channels were available;
Oppenheimer’s attempt to tip off the Manhattan
District security officers to espionage possibilities
without implicating his friend had resulted in a mis-
erable botch of falsehoods, though it could not be
clear whether he had uttered them in 1943 or was
uttering them in 1954. Robb, pitiless, pressed every
advantage, extorted every concession: “You lied to
him?” “Yes.” *. .. So you lied to him, too?”
“That isright.” “. . . Thisalso wasa lie?” “Yes,
sir.” “. . . Was that part of what you call a cock
and bull story, too?” “It certainly was." *. . . Ac-
cording to your testimony now you told not one lie
to Colonel Pash, but a whole fabrication and tissue
of lies?” “Right.” Why, oh why? “Because I was
an idiot” was all Oppenheimer could say, perhaps
despairing to convince anybody, perhaps dmpamng
to convinee himself. *“This whole thing is a piece of
idiocy. I am afraid I can’t explain why there was a
consul, why Lhemwmammﬁim.whythmm
three people on the project, why two of them were
at Los Alamos. . . . I wish I could
better why I falsified and fabricated.”

Out of such perplexity, hard questions emerge.
Could Oppenheimer have been telling the truth to
Colonel Pash in 19487 Could he be lying now?
Could he still be shielding atomic scientists involved
in an espionage ring? Practical judgment on this
had to rest on analysis, not of this episode alone, but
of Oppenheimer’s total eareer.

3

ON the basis of the written record, it is hard to tell
how effective Oppenheimer was before the Board;
apparently not enough. Yet the Berkeley scientists,
when they came to testify, argued that Oppen-
heimer’s powers of persuasion surpassed all normal
bounds — that, as Dr. Wendell Mitchell Latimer,
professor of chemistry at the University of Cali-
fornia, put it, *“He is one of the most amazing men
that the country has ever produced in his ability (o
influence people. It is just astounding the influence
that he has upon a group. It is an amazing thing.”
No one could resist this influence, said Professor
Latimer, not even General Groves; “not only Gen-
eral Groves, but the other members of the commit-
tee, Conant and the other members, they were un-
der the influence of Dr. Oppenheimer, and that is
some influence, I assure you”; only geographical
remoteness, added Professor Latimer, had saved
himself; “I might have been [under Oppenheimer’s
influence] if T had been in closer contact.”
Another Berkeley scientist, Dr. Luis Walter Al-
varez, professor of physics, reported, “Every time I
have found a person who felt this way [that is,
against the thermonuclear bomb] I have seen Dr.
Oppenheimer’s influence on that person’s mind
. . . one of the most persuasive men that has ever
lived.” The Gray Board, however, found in Oppen-

explain to you

heimer not the qualities of Svengali but rather those
of Trilby and eriticized him for showing an undue
“susceptibility to influence.”

Yet Oppenheimer’s persuasiveness had certainly
worked in the past. Groves and Lansdale had
known of the Chevalier episode in 1943 and had not
withdrawn Oppenheimer’s security clearance; David
Lilienthal and the AEC had known about it in 1947,
when Oppenheimer’s clearance was confirmed; Gor-
don Dean, Lilienthal’s successor as AEC chairman,
had known about it. Indeed, Lilienthal and Dean
headed a remarkable group of public officials, not
scientists themselves but men who had exercised
grave responsibilities in the weapons field, who now
appeared to testify for Oppenheimer. The testi-
mony of both Lilienthal and Dean revealed traces
of past friction with Oppenheimer; but both men —
Lilienthal, precise and eautious, carefully referring
to domenu and memoranda: Dean, vivid, lucid,
definite, pointed — swore their utter confidence in
Oppenheims loyalty and his reliability. Other
such men : George F. Kennan: John J.
MeCloy; Geneml Fredam:k Osborn; Sumner T.
Pike —one after another praising the man and
pledging their reputation to his probity. Even
Bernard Baruch offered an affidavit on Oppen-
heimer’s behalf.

And then the scientists: Dr. Vannevar Bush,
dean of the American scientific community, said of
Oppenheimer: *More than any other scientist that
I know of he was msponslble for our having an
atomic bomb on time,” and affirmed his entire faith
in his character. Dr. Hans Bethe said, “I believe
that Oppenheimer had absolutely unique qualifica-
tions for this job [Los Alamos| and that the success
is due mostly to him.”” Dr, James B. Conant said,
“He is 1 of the 3 or 4 men whose combination of
pmfws:onal knowledge, hard work, and loyal devo-
tion made possible the development of the bomb.™
Dr. Norman Ramsey said, *“ He did a superb techni-
cal job, and one which also made all of us acquire
the greatest of respect and admiration for . . . his
loyalty and his integrity.” Dr. I. I. Rabi said,
“Oppenheimer set up this school of theoretical
physics which was a tremendous contribution. In
fact, 1 don’t know how we could have ecarried out
the scientific part of the war without the contribu-
tions of the people who worked with Oppenheimer.”™
Dr. L. A. DuBridge, president of the California In-
stitute of Technology, said, “I feel that there is no
one who has exhibited his loyalty to this country
more spectacularly than Dr. Oppenheimer. He was
a natural and respected and at all times a loved
leader.” And Bacher, Bradbury, Compton, Fermi,
Fisk, Lauritsen, Von Neumann, Whitman, and
Zacharias spoke to the same effect — all eminent
scientists who had played the most essential roles
in the American weapons program.

Yet from the start another note sounded: other
men — other eminent scientists — had different
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things to say. The discordant theme had its origin
in three places — in Dr. Edward Teller; in the sci-
entists clustered around Professor Ernest Lawrence
at Berkeley (whom Teller has since joined); and in
the Strategic Air Command and especially in the
former Air Force scientist, David Griggs.

Teller had received his first mention in Oppen-
heimer’s own testimony. He appeared there as a
brilliant and stormy figure, dissatisfied with the
progress of research at Los Alamos, anxious that
Fermi or Bethe or Oppenheimer himself take charge
of the thermonuclear work. Then Gordon Dean
described Teller as “a very, very able man . . . a
genius . . . a very good friend of mine . . . avery
difficult man to work with.” Dean added: “You
can’t break up a whole Los Alamos laboratory for
one man, no matter how good he is.” Said Hans
Bethe, ** He did not want to work on the agreed line
of research. . He always suggested new things,
new de\'lauous " Said Sumner Pike, “Dr. Teller
was never one to keep his eandles hidden under
bushels . . . a very useful and a very fine man, but

. lopsided.” Dr. Bradbury, present head of Los
Alamos, told of the circumstances which led to
Teller’s final departure from Los Alamos. And yet
Professor Latimer of the Berkeley group, when
asked whether Teller was a hard man to work with,
replied vigorously, “I can hardly think of a state-
ment that is further from the truth; .. . In any
friendly climate, Dr. Teller is a perfect collecague,
scientifically and personally.” '

It was Teller who believed in the thermonuclear
bomb, worked for it from 1944 on, strove single-
mindedly on its behalf, resented any diversion from
it, and, in 1951, produced the invention which made
it possible. But the great battle over the thermo-
nuclear bomb — over Super, as it was termed in
the scientific-military world — had been fought two
years earlier. The Soviet achievement of an atomic
explosion in September, 1949, had detonated the
American thermonuclear effort, Simultaneously
Professor Lawrence and his Berkeley colleagues and
the generals of the Strategic Air Command saw in
Super the only means of recapturing American
weapons superiority: and Teller now had the chance
to make his dream come true.

The Gray Board made a great deal of Oppen-
heimer’s opposition to Super; the Atomic Energy
Commission, in the end, excluded it as a factor in
the ease. But, whether a formal factor in the final
decision, it was certainly the primary factor in set-
. ting in motion the train of events which brought
Robert Oppenheimer to Room 2022, Building T-3,
of the Atomie Energy Commission, on April 12,
1954. For the opposition to Super fixed in Teller's
mind the belief that Oppenheimer was acting “in a
way which for me was exceedingly hard to under-
stand™; after the Super debate Teller concluded
that the vital interests of this country should be “in
hands which I understand better, and therefore

trust more.” The opposition to Super persuaded
Ernest Lawrence and the Berkeley group that there
was a doubtful if not sinister pattern in Oppen-
heimer’s behavior. And the opposition to Super
launched David Griggs of the Air Force on his cam-
paign to save the Strategic Air Command from
Oppenheimer’s ideas and influence.

From a dramatic viewpoint, Teller’s eventual ap-
pearance before the Board, after all the build-up,
must have been something of an anticlimax. A
Hungarian by birth, a student in Germany, a
teacher in England, a research fellow in Denmark,
a professor at American universities since 1935,
Teller seemed troubled, earnest, and, in obvious in-
tent, fair-minded, torn between his concern for the
United States and his desire not to do an injustice
10 Oppenheimer. He said of Oppenheimer at the
start, “1 have always aawmad and T now assume,
that he is loyal to the United States. I believe this,
and 1 shall believe it until T see very conclusive
proof to the opposite.” In his testimony, he tried
hard to draw a just balance sheet on Oppenheimer’s
activities. Gordon Gray, seeking something more
clear-cut, finally put the direct question: would it
endanger the. eomm defense and security to grant
clearance to Oppen! Teller replied that, so
faruloya!tywas rned, he saw no reason to
deny clearance; but “ifitis a question of wisdom
and judgment, as demonstrated by actions since
1945, then I would say one would be wiser not to
grant clearance. I must say that I am myself a little
bit confused on this issue.” He did, indeed, seem
confused about the nature of the security problem,
since the giving of bad advice has not usually been
considered 1o make a man a security risk. But
Gordon Gray n-plnet}. “T think that you have an-
swered my question,™

The Berkeley group — Alvarez, Latimer, Pitzers
Lawrence himself was prevented by illness from
testifying — added to this only the emphasis on
Oppenheimer as the great persuader. The more in-
tense attack on him came from a man who had only
been a minor and transient figure in the early testi-
mony — from David Griggs. formerly Chief Sci-
entist of the Department of the Air Force,

4

.
rllu:: broad Air Foree view had been first presented
by General R. C. Wilson, en route from command of
the Air War College at Maxwell Field to the Third
Air Force in England. But General Wilson had be-
gun by saying firmly that he wanted the record to
show “that T am appearing here by military orders,
and not on my own volition,” and that he had no
question concerning Oppenheimer’s loyalty. He did
feel, he conceded under questioning, that Oppen-
heimer’s advice on strategic questions had threat-
ened to jeopardize the national defense, But by
this, it became clear, General Wilson simply meant



THE OPPENHEIMER CASE 33

that Oppenheimer’s strategic views were opposed
to the theory of the Strategic Air Command —
the theory that the central reliance of our national
defense should be on SAC and the hydrogen bomb.
“T am first of all a big bomb man,” General Wilson
explained.

The General remained a reluctant and reserved
witness, testifying only because he had been or-
dered to do so by the Chief of Staff of the Air Force.
David Griggs was less inhibited, A geophysicist,
now at the University of California at Los Angeles,
Griggs had served as Chief Scientist of the Air
Force from September, 1951, to July, 1952

His testimony was nervous, detailed, and copious.
He announced his suspicions of Oppenheimer’s
loyalty and further alleged the existence of a
scientists’ conspiracy, headed by Zacharias, Op-
penheimer, Rabi, and Lauritsen, which operated,
he said, under the name of ZORC, and which was
pledged to the destruction of the Strategic Air
Command. His words, as he candidly warned the
Board, throbbed with strong emotion. He even pro-
duced a memorandum describing an occasion when
he told Oppenheimer face 1o face that he could not
be sure whether or mot Oppenheimer was pro-
Russian. Oppenheimer “then asked if T had ‘im-
pugned his loyalty.” T replied I had. He then said
he thought I was paranoid. After a few more
pleasantries our conversation came to an end.”

Those who used to know Griggs when he was
around Harvard in the late thirties remember him
as a man of violent feelings, working out aggressions
against a world which he conceived to have injured
him. He told now of watching Zacharias write the
initials ZORC on a blackboard before fifty or a
hundred people in a meeting in Cambridge in
September, 1952; yet Zacharias and other partici-
pants at the meeting deny that such an episode
ever took place; Zacharias, indeed, swore that he
had never heard of the initials until he read them
many months later in an article in Fortune. Simi-
larly Griggs imputed to Zacharias, as the pro-
ponent of continental defense, the statement that
it was necessary to give up American strategic air
power, at a time when a strengthening of the Stra-
tegic Air Command was an essential part of Zacha-
rias’s theory of continental defense. And he simi-
larly charged Thomas K. Finletter, then Secretary
of the Air Force, with making remarks about
Oppenheimer’s loyalty which Finletter has since
said he never made.

Griges strongly favored the thermonuelear bomb,
and it is certainly true that Oppenheimer opposed
it. It is even true that Oppenheimer opposed it —
and the strategy of making atomic retaliation the
main reliance of our defense — with passion and
anger. Oppenheimer thus seems to have believed,
and perhaps even to have repeated, stories about
Finletter as a bomb-brandishing imperialist which
were patently false and vicious. Yet many other re-

sponsible people opposed the bomb, too — some,
like Conant, before Oppenheimer had crystallized
his own opinion. One ground for opposition was
the reasonable belief that the cost of the thermonu-
clear effort in terms of plutonium bombs might
well result in the weakening of American defense.

Oppenheimer’s own reasons were more compli-
cated than that — so complicated, indeed, that the
problem of his motives thoroughly fascinated the
Gray Board, which concluded that he had not been
“entirely candid™ in his statements on the issue.
There are real puzzles here. Oppenheimer, for ex-
ample, expressed in 1949 a moral distaste for Super
which he did not seem to feel for the atomic bomb;
yet in 1945 he had supported the research which led
to Super, and in 1951, after Teller’s brilliant inven-
tion, he seemed, according to some witnesses, wholly
sympathetic to the thermonuclear project; others
thought he was still dragging his feet. To -compli-
cate the affair, the thermonuclear bomb, as it was
finally built, was, because of Teller’s invention, a
quite different matter from the bomb which had
been discussed in 1949. By Teller’s own testimony,
Oppenheimer said that if the new style of bomb had
been suggested earlier, he would never have op-
posed the pm;ee.t. Oppenheimer’s record of vacilla-

tion here is manifest, t]wugh it would, of course, be
a hopeless government in which officials did not feel
free to change their minds or to express their dis-
senting opinions. Vannevar Bush stated the issue
with eloquence when he discussed before the Gray
Board the original bill of particulars agamst Oppen-
heimer. The AEC letter, Bush said, “is quite
capable of being interpreted as placing a man on
trial because he held opinions, and had the temerity
to express them. < . .

“T think this board or no board should ever sit on
a question in this country of whether a man should
serve his country or not because he expressed strong

opinions. If you want to try that case, you can try

me. I have expressed strong opinions many times,
and I intend to do so. They have been unpopular
opinions at times. When a man is pilloried for doing
that, this country is in a severe state.”

In the end, the H-bomb problem settled itself.
Truman, Acheson, MecMahon, Finletter; Louis
Johnson, Teller, Griggs, and the other supporters of
the thermonuclear effort were vindieated. And, in
the end, Oppenheimer’s opposition to the effort was
not to be formally held against him by Lewis
Strauss and the AEC. Yet few who read the record
are likely to doubt that, if Oppenheimer had not
opposed Super in 1949, he would not have had to
stand trial in 1954.

5

IF the thermonuclear debate was eliminated, what
was left in the record to cast doubt on Oppen-
heimer’s loyalty or security? One would presume
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something fairly weighty: for the Gray Board by a
2-1 vote and the Atomic Encrgy Commission by a
4-1 vote concluded that Robert Oppenheimer was a
security risk, not to be trusted with secret informa-
tion without danger to the United States. The AEC
majority, which had the final say, rested its decision
on two main allegations: “imprudent and dangerous
associations” and “substantial defects of charac-
ter.”

On the question of associations, the AEC major-
ity reproached Oppenheimer not only with his early
and admitted Communist relationships, but with
“persistent and continuing association with Com-
munists " in the years since the war. In terms of the
record, this last phrase is perplexing; and the AEC
itself only specified one association — that with
(’hm'slmr — 10 support the * persistent and econtin-
uing” charge. As for Chevalier, whom the AEC

assumed without proof to have been sllll u (;mn-_

munist in 1953, ()ppmhu{mq: di

night in Paris that year,
with him to meet with Ang

France but is also an mti&ﬂe._ olitical ads
General de Gaulle and a fanatical anti-Con
It seems unlikely that any friend of Malra
be an active Communist today. (But C _
and Thomas Morgan, in discussing 1 dent,
could only refer vaguely to the duiﬂnguﬁed writer
and notable anti-Communist as “*a Dr. Malraux.”)
Beyond the Chevalier incident, the»t'eeolﬂ reveals
no other post-1946 associations with € nists
or even ex-Communists on ()ppeahdnwrs part,

save for occasional chats with his brother; a changg .

meeting in 1949 with two Fifth Amendment, physi-
cists while leaving the barbershop in Prinecton, a
scolding of the Harvard ex-Communist, Dr. Wen-
dell Furry, for having employed the Fifth Amend-
ment, and perhaps brushes with persons at scien-

tific conventions. Did these brief and mnd%'_

meetings over a decade really constitute a sinister
and deliberate pattern of association with Com-

munists? If so, one wonders what will now happen

to Vannevar Bush, Bethe, Fermi, Rabi, and the
other scientists who will doubtless continue to asso-
ciate with Oppenheimer — and thus will have far
more of a record of “persistent and continuing™
association with a certified sceurity risk than Op-
penheimer himself has had since the war.

On this whole problem of associations, George
Kennan reasonably remarked to Gordon Gray, “1
suppose most of us have had friends or associates
whom we have come to regard as misguided with
the course of time, and I don’t like to think that
people in senior capacity in the Government should
not be permitted or conceded maturity of judgment
to know when they can see such a person or when
they can’t.” Kennan added, “1 myself say it is a
personal view on the part of Christian charity to try
to be at least as decent as you can to them.” But

on th whﬂmﬂ'
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neither the Gray Board nor the AEC majority were
pmparad. to accord to high government o!ﬁci'a’ls the
exercise of maturity, or to indulge them in impulses
of charity. The higher the government official, con-
tended the AEC, the less latitude should be per-
mitted him.

Oppmhelmefu truly damaging pattern of asso-
ciation took place, of course, before the war and
might be presumed to have been offset by his war
and post-war record. That record, as unfolded in
the hearings, was, after 1943, a not unimpressive
one. Before 1948, he was, like so myacimtiss
(and like same of his collcagues who retain clearance
today), a political sentimentalist, soft-headed and
unsuspecting. But us early as 1948 he could tell the
Los Alamos security officer that present member-
ship in d&e(ommumsll'aﬂymmhnjudgmmt

incompatible with loyalty to the atomic bomb proj-

red ¢ven liberal opinion

aui., Afmr the war he -
! textify in favor of the

atomic control in the United
flew from Sun Franciseo to

Nations,
urge him 1o ﬂ: inue negotiations because of the
hopeless attitude of the Communists. When his.

- counsel was sought by scientists in trouble for past

associations, he told them not 1o plead the

* Fifth Amendment; and in 1949 he freely testified
bafmjﬂenouae Un-American Activities Commit-

tee concerning the Communist relationships of at
least one atomi¢ scientist. As hostile witnesses

testified, he was more responsible than anyone else

for educating the Army and even the Air Force to
the poua‘nudttm of tactical atomic weapons and for

integrating such weapons into military plans; and,

as they also testified, he played a substantial role
in the fight for adequate air defense against possible
Soviel attack. No one before the Board charged
him with a “soft™ or pro-Communist utterance in
the last half dozen years. In writing, in speech, and
in conduct, Oppenheimer would seem to have acted
like a passionate and even obsessed anti-Com-
munist through most of the last decade; Dr. Rabi
even told the Board that Oppenheimer had seri-
ously discussed the advisability of preventive war.

6

Tz problem of “substantiat defects of character
is even harder to pin down. The AEC majority
assembled half a dozen apparent ambiguities and
equivocations, purporting to demonstrate Oppen-
heimer's basic unreliability. Some of these had to
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do with lapses of memory. Nor, judging by the
hearing, was Oppenheimer the only scientist liable
to such lapses. Indeed, noting the fallible memory
exhibited by one scientist after another, one began
to wonder whether there was something about the
scientific focus which, in the purity of its concentra-
tion, left human relationships in a vague and easily
forgotten penumbra. In one such incident, Oppen-
heimer den% having received a letter from Dr,
Seaborg though the government had the letter in
its possession, having taken it from Oppenheimer’s
files. Obviously, il Oppenheimer had recalled the
existence of the letter, he would have gained no ad-
vantage by denying it, for he would have known
that the government had it. With the exception of
the Chevalier episode, the six examples cited by the
AEC majority were about of this weight. On the
basis of this, would Oppenheimer’s character as dis-
closed in the hearing seemmm defectwe, say, . than
Griggs's? At least O
lies were in the past and mfmdyeomded “Yet,.
despite the misrepresentations in Griggs's testi-
mony, it can be assumedthntlem&mhm‘l
made no move to withdraw 's Q clearance.
The whole concept of “defects of character
seems a hazardous one. The American govern-
ment from 1789 on hasalwaphudalmgeshm
of people — including some of the ablest men in it
— who had, by AEC standards, “substantial de-
fects of character.” Yet even if characters become
so deplorable that one fears contamination from
them, one still shudders to have the concept of
“security risk™ so tortured that it becomes a syn-
onym for a character less righteous than one’s own.
By the Lewis Strauss interpretation of “security
risk” Alexander Hamilton and Grover Cleveland
would have been fired out of government service us
adulterers, U. S. Grant as a drunkard, and so on,
Would such exclusions have improved the safety of
the republic? Bureaucratic infighting in the govern-
ment has always been bitter and acrimonious; it is
likely to be, when dedicated men strongly believe
that the safety of the republic depends on their
policies; and each side characteristically regards the
other as deficient in morality. But when the win-
ning side starts trying to outlaw the losers as “se-
curity risks,” as happened in the China service and
is now beginning 1o happen in the scientific-military
world, one wonders what sort of people our future
governments will attract.

7

Tau culmination of the AEC case against Oppen-
heimer’s character had to do with something else:
it had to do with Oppenheimer’s attitude toward
the security system — as the AEC majority put it,
his “ persistent and willful disregard for the obliga-
tions of security.” But once again the AEC was
astonishingly weak in bringing forward concrete

evidence. The decision mentioned only the Che-
valier case — which was, after all, eleven years old
— and referred, without specification, to “other
instances.”

It is true that there had been ambiguous incidents
during the war, and the Chevalier episode was cer-
tainly much more than that. But, as General
Groves testified, all the scientists chafed under se-
curity restrictions; and, as others testified, Oppen-
heimer was far more security-conscious than most.
General Groves told how he had once warned Niels
Bohr not to talk about certain things at Los Alamos;
“he got out there and within 5 minutes after his ar-
rival he was saying everything he promised he
would not say.” Groves had a similar experience
with Ernest Lawrence; and he also reported that
Lawrence had bucked when Groves told him to get
rid of a security risk in the Berkeley laboratory.
Colonel Lansdale recalled that Lawrence “yelled
and screamed louder than anybody else about us
taking Lomanitz [a Communist for whose draft
deferment Oppenheimer made perfunctory inter-
cession] away from him.” Yet, in 1954, only illness

_pmantedlpwmee {rom bearing testimony against

- Similarly, as much substantial testi-
mony was blmghl. farwud in the hearing to show
that David Gﬁwhﬂﬂ tried to retard and sabotage
the project for continental defense as was brought
forward to show that Oppenheimer had tried to re-
tard and sabou;ge the hydrogen bomb project.

The AEC majority had begun by defining the
issue as whether Oppenheimer should continue to
have access to “some of the most vital secrets in the
possession of the United States.” This definition
suggested that a security risk was a person who
could not be trusted with vital secrets because, de-
liberately or inadvertently, he might allow them to
reach the enemy. Yet no serious person faintly con-
tended that Oppenheimer’s defects of character and
association, over a period of a dozen years, had been

responsible for the loss of a single secret. Colonel

Pash, a hostile witness, swore that he had no infor-
mation “of any leakage of restricted data through
Dr. Oppenheimer to any unauthorized person.”

Nowhere was Oppenheimer charged with doing
concrete injury to the national security through mis-
handling of secrets. His essential erime, as the Gray
Board finally suggested, was lack of “enthusiastic
support of the security system™; as Commissioner
Murray argued at length in an AEC concurring
opinion, *“loyalty” should mean, not just loyalty to
the nation, but “obedience to the requirements of
[the security] system.™ Oppenheimer thus became a
security risk, not because anything he had done had
harmed national security, but because he had de-
clined at times in the past to collaborate with pro-
fessional security officers. Yet even here the AEC
majority cited no specific instance of such non-
collaboration later than 1943!

When Groves kept Oppenhecimer at Los Alamos
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in 1943, he overrode the recommendations of the
professional security officers. Possibly il the Gray
Board and Lewis Strauss’s AEC had been in exist-
ence then they would have kept Oppenheimer well
out of the Manhattan District. Yet it seems hard
to believe that our national security over the past
dozen years would have been greater today if Op-
penheimer had been barred from atomic work.
And, unless one would argue this, it would seem
even harder to argue that our national security is
now to be greatly strengthened by barring an older,
wiser, and more chastened Oppenheimer in 1954,

The Gray Board was prepared to excuse Groves's
1943 decision on the ground that there might then
have been an “overriding need” for Oppenheimer’s
services; such a need, the Board contended, no
longer exists in 1954, Conceivably our weapons pro-
gram will not suffer unduly from the elimination of
Oppenheimer: physicists are said to age fast (though
Oppenheimer is only four years older than Teller)
and a new generation has eome along to take up the
research burden. But is it not an error to construe
the Oppenheimer decision as having no greater
effect than subtracting a single overage scientist
from government weapons work? Will the new gen-
eration of physicists now flock so into the
government laboratories? And wbal:wﬂl ﬂlei:om&-
quences be for American security if they don™t? Tt
is of importance that the two official protésts against
the purge of Dr. Oppenheimer — by Dr. Evans of
the Gray Board and by Dr. Smyth of the AEC —
came from the only scientists to take purt in the re-
view of the case. Dr. Hmyth pointing to the role of

“powerful personal enemies™ in bringing the action
against Oppenheimer, could only conclude with a
despairing appeal to thoughtful citizens to read the
record.

The AEC made its decision at just the point
when we have begun to realize that the Soviet
Union is fast cutting down our lead in the weapons
race (or at least so the man in charge of these things
at the Pentagon, Donald Quarles, has said; his boss,
Charles E. Wilson, has denied it). This is surely a
race which may mean life or death for us all. At
just this point, one would think, the government
might be doing what it could to enlist the ardor and
devotion of the scientific community in our weapons
program. Instead, one of our great scientists has
been struck from the program, not because of any
specific harm he has brought — or is considered to
be likely to bring — to national security, but be-
cause his character and his associations are disap-
proved by professional security officers. In so do-
ing, the administration has evidently spread con-
sternation through the scientific community and
has made it harder than ever for our allies to trust
our judgment and accept our leadership. In the
name of a wholly ritualistic conception of “secu-

rity,"” the administration may have done irreparable
injury to the substance of America's national inter-
est. “Our internal security system has run wild,”
Dr. Vannevar Bush has said. *“Tt is imperative to
our real security that the trend be reversed.”

John J. McCloy, speaking before the Gray Board,
pointed to what he called the “relative character of
security.” Security had two aspects, he proposed:
the negative aspect of preventing the loss of secrets,
and the affirmative aspect of making sure that we
have a continuous supply of seerets to be protected.
The fervor which stimulates thinking, the freedom
which gives it scope — these, McCloy contended,
were just as much a part of the security problem as
the blocking of espionage. “If anything is done
which would in any way repress or dampen that

fervor, that verve, that enthusiasm, or the feeling

generally that the place where you can get the
greatest opportunity. bﬂh&expanmon of your mind
and your “in this field is the United

States;, to tiut extent the security of the United

States is impaired. . . . If the impression is preva-

lent that scientists as a whole have to work under

such great restrictions and perhaps great suspicions

in the United States, we may lose the next step in

# ﬁeld, which I think would be very dangerous
us.’

McCloy made this point with great earnestness;
but the Board (except perhaps Dr. Evans) did not
react. “T don’t want to cut you off at all,” said
Gordon Gray, cutting him off, “but you were get-
ting back about something of the Nazis during the
war,” And, in his own report, Gray emphatically
rejected MeCloy’s notion of the relative character
of security. National security, said the majority of
the Gray Board in solemn language, *in times of
peril must be abselute.”

Absolute security? Might this not be the most
subversive idea of all? Dr. Evans in his dissent de-
murred: “All people are somewhat of a security
risk.” ‘George Kennan has elsewhere observed that
“absolute security™ is an unattainable and self-
devouring end — that its frenzied pursuit must in-
cline toward absolute tyranny. The problem of se-
curity, as Kennan sees it, is not to seek “a total
absence of danger but to balance peril against peril
and to find the tolerable degree of each.”

Is absolute security possible short of an absolute
state? Robert Oppenheimer was doubtless at mo-
ments a cocky, irritating, even arrogant man. But
surely no arrogance of Oppenheimer equals the ar-
rogance of these who, in the frightening words of the
Gray Board, affirm that it has been demonstrated
that the Government can search . . . the soul of
an individual whose relationship to his Government
is in question.”

The government which claims to do this would
hardly seem a government for Americans.



intervention wot only in the military af-

fairs of Spain bet alse in its financial
and monctary policy, including the prep-
aration of the state budget. Azcirate puts
his finger on the most neuralgic point of
Spanish susceptibilities when he says
that since the Franco government has
agreed to turn Spain into a conceéntration
base for American planes carrying
A-bombs and H-bombs, the country will
be exposed to immediate atomic n:priuis
i World War 11l breaks out. “This
would mean Spain’s total destruction,”
-he concludes. The prospect has provided
anti-goyernment propaganda in Spain
with an unparalleled popular appeal.
The argument will have even greater
effect if international tension rises and
the threat of war grows more imminent.
An cffort has been made, 'bothion the
Spanish and on the American side, to
make the presence of the United States
in Spain as inconspicuous as possible.
Bat some 400 Americans, 280 belonging
to the armed forees, are thete on mis-
sions connected with the carrying out of
the treaty. The people of Madrid seea
growing number of cars  marked
“U. 8. A-Germany Forces."
appear most frequently in front of the

sumptucus new Air Ministry on Romero

Robledo Street and the Espaia sky-

These cars

scraper, where the “principal contractor”
—the person in charge of the United
States relations with Spanish firms look-
ing for dollars—has his office. The label
FU. 8. A-Germany Forces™ is surely
symbglic. To the Spanish people it seems
to unite West Germany and Franco
Spain, the two “replacement allies”
chosen by the Pentagon to compensate
for the loss of E. D, C.

A Madrid able on September 11
from United Press correspondent Peter
Knox, appearing in the New York
Presisa, states that i the “agonizing re-
appraisal” which is sure to come if of-
forts o And-a substitute for E D. C
fail, official circles are sure 'Spain will
be assigned a most important part in the
military future of the Continent.” Knox
gives interesting details about the closer
ﬂmmﬁ-&pmh collaboration that has
come with the defection of France and

the gmmng sense of crisis in Westem

“In the new plans for the pe-

(q:;!-nul aerm of Europe, the United
States will «

d en bombers and ather
t;pqdyhnuﬂ;hmedhﬁpﬂabm

any act of Cﬁunumm@agycmm-

United States, air force, using Spanish

_bases, will be able to.attack the faraway

Soviet territory. 'l’hou{.h the - United

States has a series of bases in Europe and

parts-of North Africa, it is the Spanish
‘bases, protected by the Pyrenees, that are
regarded by experts as meost valuable for

It is certainly curious that this inter-
esting U. P. able was not published in
'the chief New York newspapers, I don't
know whether it was because the story

seemed indiscreet from a anilitary point

of view or becanse Mr. Knox concluded
his report with the following significant
aad honest comment:

It is the purely military aspect that
makes the Spanish bases so mmportant; but
at the same time American democracy 1S
involving itself in too many future risks
for a country where there have been no
elections for almost twenty vears and
where freedom of expression is non-exist-
ent. As long as the regime of Generalis-
simo, Franco continues, the United States
can trust Spain in irs fight against com-
sunisms; but it is difficult to predict what
mll ‘happen alter the Candillo disappears,

ce nobody knows what the Spanish

people think

In dlmduty 1 believe T do know
what the Spanish people think. And I
can say without hesitation that the ques-
tion of the “succession” should be
- worrying not only the Duke of Maura

and Spaniards generally but even more

the American government.

AN AMERICAN TRAGEDY
The Oppenheimer Case . . by Waldo Frank

THE transcript of the hearings before
the Personnel Security Board of the
Atomic Energy Commission runs to
nearly a million words. It is not com-
fortable reading. Spoken speech without
the presence of the speaker flattens to
the elliptical; syntax is.often lost as new
thoughts invade. The matter here is both
complex and repetitious, touching
depths without exploring them. And
ene encounters sentences like this by
David Lilienthal: "It is the reasoning

WALDQ ERANK, noveliss wnd critic,
contributod .« widely discussed article,
The " Anti-Conmuniss Perily to The
Nation of fune 19. :
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that 1 adduced was not the reasoning in
substantial part the reasons that are
stated in the G. A. C. report and that is
evident by reading it.” Yet the drama
of this "matter” is so intense, so arche-
typical, so symbolic and relevant for the
lives of us all, that the fat tome of the
United States Printing Office becomes an
experience like a great novel. Here, for
those who lack time to read its 992
pages, is a glimpse of the story.

The reader s soon immersed: in 2 cli-
mate, pervasive, obsessive, like a night-
mare; a climate of unchallcny:d axioms

.aru:l dogmas.

. The'world has onlytwopa:ts the
Umtcd States and Russia,

2. These two parts arc joined in abso-
late opposition. For America, Russia is
“the enemy”; Russia’s one interest in
America is to destroy it.

3. America’s security, in terms of
Jact and act, is a matter of weapons to
be brandished or to be used.

4. Although each individual Ameri-
can may have values that transcead phys-
ical security and survival, values that
may move him to sisk life for them, the
nation shull have no such values. Its su-
preme aim, like the beast’s, 3s to survive,
For the individual, values dearer than
life; for the individual’s nation, life at
the cost of all values,

5. In the three” weeks® hearing the
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word genocide is not used; the relevance
of fission and fusion bombs to penocide
is not mentioned.

6. There is occasional reference to
“our cvilization™ and to the fact that
fission-fusion bombs might destroy it.
There is no inquiry into the nature of
this civilization; into the bond between
the bomb and the culture which pro-
duced it; into the perilous possibility

_ that the bomb, even if not used, even if

merely made, to “"defend” this civiliza-
tion, might undermine it and destroy the
values of the men and women who live
within it.

7. Although Russia and communism
are the ever present "other” in this
schizoid world, there is no hint by any
of the free-ranging witnesses, who are
not limited by court procedure; that
decper understanding of Russians mﬂ
communism, of our mutual hostility
of ourselves, might contribute to defense
and survival; and that some of the
traits of which Oppenheimer is accused
might make him 2 national asset for
such understanding.
rules as a security risk. But Oppea-
heimer's personal motives and the na-
tion’s needs are a constant presence in
the meanings of his conduct. His charac-
ter is the issue. And the problems in-
volved belong to politics, history, sociol-
ogy, psychology, ethics, religion. They
are never pursued beyond a superiicial
range within the reach of a schoolboy. .

SO MUCH f-ortheidcalogia.lscmeand :

climate. What of the actors? The most
emotional of the forty witnesses are the
.men of science. Within their concrete
minds glows love for the accused. They
have worked with him; they do not un-
derstand his former associations, and
when the board prods them to explain,
they are simply sure that this is a loyal
and safe man. They cannot analyze their
conviction (as they can analyze the
atom), because love is in it. And this
same quantum of the man that makes
most of them love, makes a few of them
hatet the victorious few—Teller, Lati-
mer, Borden, Pitzer, et al. The hate also
is below the threshold of intellectual
conviction. "He is the most persuasive
man in the world!™ cries Dr. Latimer,
with no hint of why this persuasiveness
is a peril. Dr, Teller, presiding genius of
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the Hbomb, has nothing definite to say

against his enemy: not that he is disloyal
or unsafe, not even that he ‘opposed or

.d:sccumsed the project: But the same

quantum which E&us love and which
moves Oppenheimer to be less than
passionately for the H-bomb, moves
Teller—who loves the bomb as his owa
child—to hate him.

The bumptious General Groves, the
sedate security officer, Colonel Lansdale,
have more cause than theé scientists to
doubt this ex-radical and inventor of “a
cock-and-bull-Story”; they trust him,
nevertheless, "I want you to know," ex-
claims Lansdale in a talk registered by

planted dictaphone, “that I like you

personally, ‘and believe me, it's so! I
have no suspicions whatever and I don't
wauryoutofeelthntlhzve. A
quality in the man moves those who
know him to love or hate beyond—not
necessarily dgmrm'—thc:t rational con-
victions about him.

With others, the motivations are not
personal; in their minds, clearly, Oppen-
heimer “stands for something” and
they're against it. Roger Robb, the
board’s counsel, for instance. The hear-
ing is not supposed to be a “trial.” But

Robb is nakedly the prosesutor, working
for a kill. He uses both net and poniard.
Even the brilliant Lilienthal is tangled
by him. When Dr. Von Neumann, gen-
erous-minded mathematician, is chal-
lenged to explain Oppenheimer’s tale
gbout the physicists and gropes for a
psychological clue to help his cectainty
that Oppenheimer is both loyal and safe,
Relib tosses him out:

Robb: One further question, doctor.
You have never had training as a2 psy-
chiatrist, have you?

Neumann: No.

Robb: That is all.

One cannot doubt what Robb's stand
would have been had a psychologist
been called to shed light on Oppen- -
heimer's vacillations. But Robb's aggres-

'siveness gt times exceeds what a petti-

fnsgng lawyer in 2 more carefully re-
‘stricted court of law could get' away

with.Dr. Vannevar Bush expresses out-

mage at a “paragraph” in General Man-

ager Nichols's letter of charges which
mp& that Oppenheimer is being im-

pugned for his opinions. In its_original

5'£mm this item is merely part of a

very long paragraph which the New
York Tiémes, following common news-

paper usage, has broken into several—
for greater readability—but without
changing the text by a word. Robb tries
to trip Bush on the fake point that he is
complaining about 2 “paragraph™ that
doesn’t exist! This might have effect
before a jury of twelve bewildered men.

But Robb is working for a board of

three experts. Clearly he is moved by an
intellectual—or an anti-intellectual—

passion.

CHAIRMAN Gordon Gray's emotionai
state is not 5o lucid; and his muddied
language shows it. There is conflict ia
Dr. Gray, formerly Secretary of the
Army, now president of the University
of North Carolina. Unto the end he
keeps insisting that the board has not
yet made up its mind—protesting too
much. Often he seems to plead with an
eminent witness, justifying the board's
“rights™ and "duties.” He needs to ap-

. pear just; to presetve the esteem of these

men of power who are fighting for the
accused; above all, he needs to be "cor-
rect” in his obeisance to the unspoken
dogma that is the bearing’s climate, Op-
penbeimer, as we shall see, is not a
prophet. But Gray's role recalls that of
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the grand inquisitor in Dostoievski's
novel—or of Caiaphas, the sincere high
priest whose love of the official order
is so pure that he finds blasphemy in all
dissent. At times this strongest motive
of Gray flashes~sharp and free, like
lightning from a storm cloud. When
Joha ). McCloy, formerly of the Depart-
ment of War, now of the Chase Na-
tional Bank, testifies that "all of the
scientists, 1 believe, but certainly Dr
Oppenheimer, were in favor of drop-
ping the bomb on Japan," and goes on
to speculate how Oppenheimer’s mis-
pgivings about the H-bomb could be
legitimate, Gray summarily silences the
witness. When Dr. Walter Whitman,
head of chemistry at Massachusetts In-
stitute ‘of Technology, :.orrobosi&'s fwo
previous witnesses in their Sfeeling™
that perhaps it ‘was unwise to proceed
with the H-bomb before a new attempt
was miade lo get Russia to agrée notlo.

produce it, Gray ignores the Supposed
freedom of the hearings and shuts him

off sharply.

Whitman: 1 do not feel that the
future of civilization—

Gray: 1 don't question your feeling.
I don's want to pursae il

THE professional soldiers are the
coolest actors, the ones maost at ease in
the hearing’s ideological climate. Gen-
eral Roscoe Charles Wilson, for exam-
ple, lives in the simple world of a mili-
tary airman. "Russia,”" his sole syllogism
goes, “is a land power . . . practically in-
dependent of the rest of the world™;
neither naval blockade nor foot invasion
can destroy it—and of course it must be
destroyed; therefore I am first of all a
big bomb man’" Oppenheimer is soft
about the big bamb? What's the differ-
ence whether this means he is disloyal
or merely mistaken?

Concerning Dr, Oppcnhcnmers fu-
ture usefulness, General Wilson agrees
with Dr. Teller that the creator of
the A-bomb “might as well go fishing
for the rest of his Iife.” In the witnesses
of this class, man's problems are simpli-
fied by elimination of all but the bare
military facts as they happen to sce
them, Yet here too there is emotion.
When fire-cater Wilson 15 asked if
thermonuclear weapons are important,
his reply, “"Vastly, yes sir!™ reveals a
gloating appetite, a gourmandise; one
can almost hear him purr, “"M-m-m,

Seprember 25, 1954

goed!” like the Texan on the Campbell-

soup radio progran.

THE statesmen of science, of "big
business,” and diplomacy (Conant, Ken-
nan, Bush, Lilienthal, Rowe, McCor-
mack, et 2l) offer the best reasons for
not letting Oppenheimer “go fishing.”
They have not so intimately worked with
the man; they know and respect what be
has done rather than love or reject what
he is, They try to suggest, against stub-
born oppesition of chairman and coun-
sel, that they can understand Oppen-
heimer's interest in social justice, in Rus-
sia’'s “experiment,” while Russiz was
still our ally; even his failure, in that
atmesphere of 1943, to mush at once to
the F. B. 1. Iﬂtbava&uem:ythat

would have injured 2 trusted friend. But

this is dangerous ground ! Not even Op-

'pcﬂmnrfscmmxidmwimd‘xﬁ

Qne fecks that the brilliant men, Ken-
mn_:bmm&_nd@emhoy
be was severed from State office), could

havehemdmumnﬂypngeppm--

heimer if the &ogm:," “climate,”

_had not barred them,

The essence of the case—the quantum

in this man which made some love and

ethers hate him—is never approached
directly, It glows bricfly in the lucdid tes-
timony of nheimer's wife. But
Rol:"bshmwdly declines to cross-cxamine
her. He can count on the ;rrclr:vq:t
of what she has to say.

Related to this essence, of course, is
“the feeling about the future of civiliza-
tion" to which Gray grants no quartey,
The scientists are not experts in this
“fecling,” nor is Oppenheimer; but in
him they ‘sense their own preoccupa-
tion. When “Oppenheimer expresses
doubt as te the political, strategic, eco-
nomic wisdom of a certain program for
H-bombs, they know he is on legitimate
ground even if he is wrong. But they
know also that a deeper, inarticulate in-
stinct moves him, and that rbere he is
right! The Tellerss—the haters—also feel
this instinct, and that it is a risk to the
pasanoiac world, “the climate” of the
hearing, to which they are committed.

We come-close to the tragic heart
of this story in the effort of Oppen-
heimes's liberal lawyer, Lloyd K. Garri-
son, to minimize the unorthodex in his
client; to hide from view his “wrong”
carly friendships and interests by dispos-
ing of them as mere indiscretions of ig-

narance and youth, and by piling high
the inventory of his “correct™ later ac-
tions. Mr. Garrison cannot be blamed
for this; he wants to win his case. But
the need to hush up what is generous
and noble in the man, even if mistaken-
ly directed, points fﬂghtenmgly to the
sick spirit of gur country. And why does
Mr. Gamison disdain to cross-examine
Willizm Bozden, the man who opealy
_ accuses Oppcnhmm—-ou no evidence
whatever—of being a Soviet spy? Why
does he miss this opportunify to reveal
the type of mind which, confronted with
intellectual beauty,® “reaches for the
gun” of character-assassination? Noth-
ing Mr. Garrison and lhis associates
- could do would, ¥ suspect, have changed
the \crdmt. Bnt at least by exploring the

OPPENHEIMER is not a good wit-
ness for himself. His report on his lead-
ership in the Scnmkﬁdvmry Commit-
tee (G. A, C.) is exact, exhaustive, as-
sured. But on the question of his carly
associations; he hardly goes beyond the
plea that he “had no framework of po-
litical conviction or experience to give
me perspective in these matters.™” He is a
scicatist of practical genius. If he cared
to solve a problem in physics and his
first efforts failed, would he cease to ex-
periment? Would he not try again and
again? His first “experiment’” in search
of secil justice moves him toward the
Communists. He soon learns his mistake;
before the Hitler-Stalin pact, retum-
ing scientists from Russia convince him
of Soviet tyranny. Therenpon, according

*“The reader who ie barred from the oguige of
msthemution] equutions can tasie the guality of
Oppenheimer’s mind in Bis published vol-

recemitly
ume of lectures, "Selume and the Common Unider-
standing” (Simon and Schuster, $2.75),
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to his word, he chucks the whole matter
and becomes an orthodox believer in the
capitalist system, Is this in line with the
man’s natare? Is there no trace left of
the motives which warmed him to Com-
munists and Russiz in the first place?
The board thinks so.

“The matter which most engaged my
sympathies and interest was the war in
Spain . . , bat I knew nothing of its his-
tory or politics or contemporary prob-
fems.” Perhaps: a man can’t study every-
thing. But he now calls his whole concern
for Spain “RMiotic.”” Did he not know at
least that Spain’s republic, whose aim
was to liberate 2 long-suffering people,
was struggling for its life against the
fascists? What's idiotic about that? The
board doesn’t believe that he has lost the
motives which made him dnmpm
Spain, although he may have outgrown

a particular method of expressing these
motives. These are the unforgivable;
these make him a "rsk.™ '

His friend, Haakon Chevalier, tells
him of Eltenton's plpelmnw tbe Sm?iet
consul in San Francisco,
dismisses it as evil—and fm‘ moaths
does not report it. Yet he is on record as
having said that he regretted that oue
Commander-in-Chief could not openly
share our technical know-how with the
Russian ally, in order that there might
be no ground for information slipping
in by “the back door” of espionage. A
wise remark. It could be argued that our
war-time distrust of Russia stratified the
previous twenty years of active capitalist
hostility, confirming Stalin in his sus-
picious, soon aggressive post-war policy
against us. Oppenheimer makes no such
case for himself,

I am sure Oppenheimer told the facs
to the board. What he leaves out are the
motives: normal, in part noble; which,
Jacring with his role of conventional
seérvice to his country, caused confusion
in him. Perhaps he omits the motives
because he does not clearly know them;
perhaps because be fears their effect on
“'practical” men and through a defensive
instinct fecls that these elements in his
nature, linking him with the poets,
would disqualify him for his privileged
place in the political and military world.
The judges feel sometbing is left out;
and they are not likely to fill the gap
with a generous picture the defendant
himself fails to draw. If they had pos-
sessed more insight, they could have
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sensed, as Ward Evans and Henry
Smyth sensed, what remained unsaid.

Would they then, in our civilization,

have been the majority judges? Yet the
whole story i5 there, in the record; all it
needs is to be assembled.

OPPENHEIMER'S well-to-do. New
York Jewish background was a rich
culture bed for all the new century's
drives and trends, In this lush world the
go-getter was nourished, and the poet;
the mechanist and thé mystic; the ex-
ploiter of economic and intellectual
wealth for his own success and the rebel
who feels insecurity and guilt because he
is rich and aware of the have-nots. In
most individuals one strain prevails, the
others are buried. In the man of genius
all the drives clash, c:canngﬁu need
of mt:gmmg chios, which is the
work of genius, To this over-endowed
group Oppenheimer belonged. Even his
features, asymetrical as Poc’s, reveal it.
The cyes command a half-face of sensi-
bility, bland and open, and & half-face

of tough analytic power. In the mouth
the division is horizontal: the upper lip
tense and coldly resolved, the fower lip
aggressively sensuous,

“The young man becomes a physicist.
But the aesthetic of the age lures him
also; the aesthetic of mysticism, above
all, which has its strongest structures in
the East (he studies Sanskrit to learn of
deeper causes and cuses of human bond-
age than the Marxist). He never be-
comes 1 Communist, but the new modal-
ities of social justice, the new horrors of
injustice exemplified by Hitler, move
him. His conscience as the son of a rich
man impels him, before his marriage, to
make a will bestowing his entire inheri-
tance on the University of California for
the founding of fellowships in nuclear

Like every sensitive Jew, who
for all his ties feels subtly detached from
| his fellow-countrymen, he is sympathetic
to revolutionists, less pechaps because he
mmm doctrines than because they

100 are minority pcrscms At the same
time acceptance and success in majority

e
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"Who's Being Walled Of from What?”
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terms appeal to him strongly. And so

the war years found him, and thrust him,

through his special gifts, into Icadership
of a majority cause.

IT IS unthinkable that the motives

which made him sympathetic to radicals
should have died in him because he has
rejected some of their convictions, He

_does not “cut” his friends when he be-

comes the leader of Los Alamos. On the
contrary, his job of making bombs, re-
pulsive to any imaginative man, must
kave heightened his thirst for contacts
with what is humanly fresh, free, and
creative. He believes there is good cause
for what he is doing: hé knows through
Einstein that Hitler has been secking-the
atomic bomb since 1939. He is defend-
ing America and the frec world. Troni-
ally, he is also defending Russie. And
the ambivalence of this, wh:d_;_Wb!e__s
no one in 1945, will in 2 decade make it
appear possible for his enemies. to hint
that he was directly serving Russia.
What indeed could a Seviet spy like bet-
ter than that America with its. m&mbc!q-
sources should perfect a weapon-against
Hitler?

His literary friend, Chevalier, alerts
him vaguely to Soviet espionage. Why
does he keep silent? Itis 1943, and he is
busy, and he has never dealt with police-
men, and Chevalier is his true friend:
why subject bim to that trouble? And
Russia is our ally, so what's the danger?
And deep in his heart does he feel that
America may have been wrong in not
sharing secrets with an ally? Later the
threat of espionage at Berkeley is made
more clear to him; and now he reports
Eltenton,” stubbornly withholding the
name of Chevalier whom he £nows to be
innocent, He is nervous, and the vacuum
of what he has to say disturbs him. T'bey
may not be impressed by his scant news;
and by now be is begihning to fear Rus-
sia. Before he knows it, in his nervous
confusion and trouble about not naming
his friend, he speaks of “three scien-
tists” who, he affirms, have been ap-
proached. He cannot name them. But

. this will at least give more weight to his

warning.

At this point, we assume two "guilts,”
deep and vague in Oppenheimer’s mind.
One is due to a residual tenderness for
the old image of Russia as the home of
social justice; the second is that this

tenderness is a wrong to his own coun-
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try, threatened perhaps through espion-
age by the actual tyrannical Russia. The
two “guilts” contradict each other. He
opts in faver of the second feeling, and
enforces it by inventing his three physi-
cists. There is another hint of this "over-
determination.”

- Drr. Zacharias testifies that, more than
his colleagues, Oppenheimer came close
to advocating a preventive war against
Russia. This is as foreign to the man's
organic nature as his tale of the physi-
cists. Neurotic nervousness can explain
it. I don’t know how plaasible this “re-
construction” may appear to the reader.
Surely, it is less incredible than that this
man voluntasily appeared before his
jadges in osder ta'lie under oath.

The cloudy affair gives the bonrd and
the commission their pretext {or dvmi-
ing as they do. Similar ambiguities exist
in tbe lms of evtry man—evm tha
men with no ambivalence in their souls,
we would be ruled by robots; and per-
haps this was the true will—uncon-
scious, of coursc—of the tribunal.

BUT Oppenhcimer’s real “‘sin’'—the
 bearing resembles a theological inguisi-
tion in that no "crime'" was even sug-
gested—began with the long sessions,
about which Lilienthal testifies, to shape
an agreement with Russia for control of
the bomb. We hear of the months of
solemn deliberation by important -men
before the Baruch phn is perfected; and
of Oppenheimer’s major contribution to'
its main . ideas, .&ny shrewd _peasant;
knowmg the facts of the distrust be-

tween Russia and the West since the in-
vasions of Russia in the 1920's by capi-
talist armies, and knowing the continu-
ance of this distrust in the second war,
could have predicted that Russia must
reject the Baruch plan. That the pem-
pous “big men” did not know this is
credible; but surely Oppenheimer knew
it. Which means that, while he deliber-
ated, in good faith, thete was conflict in
him. His work on the bomb had been
justified because of the danger of Hit-
ler's making it first. But the bomb was
dropped on [apan after Hitler's death.
How justify that? "It saved lives by
shortening the war.” Oppenheimer is
far tao intelligent to be moved by this
dishonest nonsense.

Now the diffitulties—before Teller's

invention makes it feasible—in produc- *
ing the H-bomb seem to Oppenheimer
to give the world another chance fo
réach agreement with: Russia. Let no one
create this genocidal weapon whose ex-
istence, even if it is never used, warps
the very organs of our culture! Such

thoughtd, such reserves and deep con- /

cerns in the man, must have been felt by

his accusers. They are effough in 1954 to-

doom him as trusted servant of a stite
already taking on the rigid lines of its
fears and of the forces which produce
the weapons of fear.

IF Oppenheimer had honored his mis-
givings by speaking them out, he
would have found countless allies: did
not Dr, Gemnt say the H-bomb would
htmatle ‘over my dead body”? It is
mm that the genocidal race in
wh:eh “we are now plunged might never
huvcbcgm*:nd from this birth of good
faith and of courage, agreements with
the Sdma_-m:ght have dcepmcd and
broadened. Such ayadwiﬂ:mhm
enemy would mean risk? Russia m:ght
cheat? The peril would have been in-
finitely less than the certain one of our
present “security course.’* And the
American people weuld at least have
heard, through a eceaspicuous public
servant, that the nation which refuses to
risk its life for sanity and honor is as
craven and doomed as the man who re-
fuses to risk his life for what man
should Jove more than his life,
Probably Oppenheimer’s appeal for
such 2 course would have failed. But the
genius that served degth would have
emerged into a leader of living men.
That Robert Oppenhimer was too
strongly shackled by his conventional
loyalties to rise to this lucid height is his
tragedy. That his fate is typical and sym-
bolic is America’s tragedy. Qur seasitive
and imaginative and creative men are
placed on the defensive. Fheir generous
gifts are not encouraged to be free and
to explore—at the inevitable risk of
heresy and error. They are being stifled
into rigid conformity with dogmas of
fear—or they are not used at all. A na-
tional program whose heart is the insan-
ity of seeking shelter_frem a world in
revolution by denyms its elements of
jastice, by reliance on the threat of geno-
cidal weapons, is beuad, if it continues,
to eliminate mind and spirit from the

men who lead us.
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equipment, a Scrabble game (“I'm just
learning to play”) and an umbrella-shaped
umbrella stand. At Saks Fifth Avenue
there was a mob scene .as the Queen
Mother bought jeweled cashmere sweaters
for Queen Elizabeth (size 12) and Prin-
cess Margaret (size 10). “I'm afraid I'm
buying too much,” said the Queen, with a
sudden womanly qualm. But then. in an
equally womanly way. she comforted her-
self: “But I can see that Christmas is not
going to be any trouble.”

This week the royal grandmeother, join-
ing in the observance of Columbia Uni-
versity’s 2coth anniversary, donned a
black cap and gown and marched with
another touring VIP, Germany's -;turdy
old Chancellor Konrad Adenaver, in
a solemn convocation at the Cathedral of
St. John the Divine. Awarding her an
honorary. degree of Doctor of Laws, Co-
lumbia cited her as more than a queen.
Said the citation: “A gifted musician,
accomplished linguist, and understanding
student of the arts.

THE ATOM

The H-Bomb Delay

More than a year ago, two Washington
reporiers, piecing together many frage
ments from the public record of the hy-
drogen bomb's history, concluded that.
i) there had been unnecessary delays in
the construction of this weapon; 2) part
of the delay had been traceable to oppo-
sition to the building of an H-bomb;
3) this opposition wag not merely tech-
nical. but was associated with deep intra-
governmental dissension, confusion and
indecision over general weapons policy:
4) these struggles. in tum, have been
bound up with larger conflicts about the
strategic, political and moral aspects of
the international scene; 3) as a result
of the delay, the U.S. had narrowly

United Press
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A check on aggression . , .
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missed losing its superiority of atomic
weapons, the essential check on Commu-
nist aggression.

1f these conclusions were right, the two
reporters—James Shepley, chief of the
Time-Lire Washington Bureau, and Clay
Blair Jr., military reporter in that bureau
—had glimpsed a piece of history that
the public should be teld. Correspondents
Shepley and Blair decided that their ac-
count of a complex struggle needed book-
length scope.

The Shepley-Blair report, The Hyiro-
gon Bomb, is now the center of a roar-
ing countroversy. The book has been de-
nounced by men of weight, including
many leading atomic scientists. Certain
journalists have said that the book im-
plies a plot on the part of atomic scien-
tists against the U.S. They have said that
the book is part of an anti-intellectual
wave that is making it impossible for sci-
entists to work for the Government of
the U.S.

Such a conflict would be even more
serious than the H-bomb delay. For if the
U.S. cannot.continue to enlist the support
of science, if it cannoh solve the critical
problems of the between the
national interest and the pursuit of knowi-
edge, then the U.S. will not survive—and
will not deserve to survive. These are not
questions for scientists alone or for public
officials alone; they affect everybody, and
it it wholesome, though painful, that the
Shepley-Blair report brings a much: larger
part of this important argument to pub-
lic view.

The Limitations. The Sthley-
book begins with the following important
statement of its own limitations: “A full
assessment of the delay in development
of the hydrogen bemb and its effect on
the survival of the U.S. as & nation and
upon the future of mankind will be im«
possible for some years to come. These
reporters have not attempted to do so
here, or to ascribe motives to the indi-
vidu_:ths responsibile.”

Essentially, this promise is kept. It is
possible to believe everything in the book
without finding disloyalty in Robert Op-
penheimer or any other man who appears
in it (except confessed spies like Klaus
Fuchs). In fact, those newspaper and
magazine commentators who have men-
tioned the book without attacking it do
not find it a story of a plot or a betrayal.
The statement that the book describes or
implies a plot comes from the book's
bitter critics.” But confusion, indecision
and bad judgment can do as much dam-
age as plots. A lot of roads to the dead
ends of history have been paved with
good intentions.

Sin & Danger. Here is the road the
book describes:

Soon after V-] day, the U.S. relaxed
with the illusion that universal peace was
at hand. In the case of many leading
atomic physicists, this national mood was
modified by their unique reaction to the
atomic bomb that they had produced.
Oppenheimer, in an eloquent and mem-
orable sentence, described this feeling:

Iaternational
PrvsicisT OPPENHEIMER

. + . was almost lost.

“In some crude sense, which no vulgarity.
no hUmor, no overstatement can quite
extinguish, the physicists have known sin,
and this is a knowledge which they can-
not lose.”

~Most of the physicists entered the post-
war period with 1) an intense desire to
drop weapons work and get back to their
universities, 2) a deep distrust of “the
military” with whom they had been asso-
ciated under circumstances very hard on
the scientists, and 3) a resoive to expiate
“the sin of Alamogordo™ by influencing
national policy in such a way that the
atomic weapon would never be used again.

As the nation became more aware of
the Communist threat, the main body of
atomic-science leaders, Oppenheimer at
their heac appear to have become in-
creasingly uneasy about the degree of the
free world’s dependence on their (sinful?)
weapon. For whatever reasons, no encour-
agement was forthcoming from Oppen-
heimer and his leading associates when
Physicist Edward Teller, fearing that the
Russians would overtake U.S. A-bomb
superiority, tried to speed up work on a
more powerful kind of bomb.

Teller felt that he was running into
objections of a nonscientific nature. There
is much evidence in the statements and
attitudes of scientists that their distrust
of hardening U.S. political-military poli-
cies was connected with a fear that a ther-
monuclear bomb would intensify those
policies. During the Gray board hearings,
Oppenheimer was confronted with a letter
he had written om Oct. 21, 1949 to Har-
vard President James B. Conant, call-
ing the proposed H-bomb a “miserable
thing,” expressing doubts as to its tech-
nical or military feasibility. Then he said
that it was “really not the technical prob-
fem” that concerned him about Teller's
H-bomb proposal, but the danger that it
would further “unbalance” war plans, and
that it would be mistakenly looked upon
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The Timetable. It is the Shepley-Blair
thesis that the resistance of the scientists
—and others—is reflected in the follow-
ing chronology of events:

July 1945: Teller and Oppenheimer
wrote a report that a thermonuclear bomb
would be “probably feasible.”

Spring of 1946: A roundup conference
of scientists at Los Alamos was titled:
“Final Conference on the Super.” Dis-
couraged at the lack of interest, Teller left
Los Alamoes. (Klaus Fuchs attended the
conference.)

August 1949: The Russians achieved
their first atomic blast,

Fall of 1g49: Strenuous efforts by Tel-
ler and other nonconforming physicists to
revive interest in a thermonuclear bomb
to counter the Russian gain. Among non-
scientists who allied themselves with Tel-
ler: Lewis Strauss, then a minority mem-

ber of the AEC; the late Senator Brien

McMuhon, head of the Joint Co
sional Committee on Atomic Energy;
Secretary of Defense Louis Johmson.

October roag: The AEC's General Ad-
visory Committee (Robert Oppenheimer,
chairman) rejected Teller's proposal.

November 1949: President Truman
asked AEC members for written opinions
on whether or not to go ahead with
an all-out effort to build a super-bomb.
He found two for, two against and one
astraddle.

November and December r194¢ and
Junuary 1gso: The Aght raged on while
a special Truman committee—Johnson,
Lilienthal and Secretary of State Acheson
—failed to act.

Janvary 1950: Klaus Fuchs confessed
that he bad long been a spy for the
Russians.

Jan. 31, 1950: A few days later, Tru-
man's committee met. Tensely. they dis-
cussed the chance that the Russians,
briefed by Fuchs, might have a start in
thermonuclear development. Acheson and
Johnson voted to recommend full speed
ahead. Lilienthal voted against. That
afternoon President Truman announced
his decision to go ahead with the H-bomb.

July 1952: After another hot Washing-
ton struggle, a special laboratory for Tel-
ler was established at Livermore. Calif.

November 1952: Mike, a cumbersome
hydrogen device. was exploded at Elugelab
Island in the Pacific.

Aug. 20, 1953: The first Russian H-
bomb was exploded.

« March 1, 1954: The first droppable U.S.
H-bomb was exploded.

The Father of the Bomb. In the
months aftér the President’s order. there
is evidence of further delay. After Tru-
man’s order, Oppenheimer never publicly
opposed the H-bomb. But other scientists
did. Twelve top physicists signed a state-
ment that said: “We believe that no na-
tion has the right to use such a bomb no
matter how righteous its cause.” It is a
fact that Teller had great difficulty re-
cruiting scientists in the year after the
President’s order.
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The book presents Teller as the father
of the hydrogen bomb. He broke the
almost solid front of scientists who were
opposing an all-out effort in the fall of
19493 in 1951 he had the “flash of genius”
without which the homb could not have
been made.

But he did not make the droppable H-
bomb. The book credits his Livermore
laboratory with sparking Los Alamos by
“competition,” but the “more mature”
group of scientists at Los Alamos made
the bomb—hnally.

The A#tack. Among those who have
attacked the book since publication are
former AEC Chairman Gordon Dean and
many leading atomic scientists, including
Enrico Fermi and Hans Bethe. The com-
ment of Dr. I. L. Rabi, present chairman
of the AEC's General Advisory Commit-

Wolter Bennelt
CoLumnisT JosEpH ALsoP
Menacing mythology.

tee, is a sample: “A sophomoric science-
fiction tale, to be taken seriously only by
a psychiatrist.”

One of the strongest attacks came from
Dr. Norris Bradbury, since 1945 head of
the Los Alamos laboratories. Resenting
the Sheplev-Blair charge that Los Alamos
had *“dragged its feet” on thermonuclear
development, Bradbury said that this
work from 1946 on was pursued with
“the maximum appropriate emphasis,”
and that the bomb was in fact produced
probably as fast as it could have been.
Does this mean that the whole Washing-
ton struggle described by Shepley and
Blair was nonexistent or irrelevant? Or
that the Washington struggle was to de-
cide whether to change the appropriate
emphasis? Certainly, Oppenheimer, Teller
and other participants in the Washington
fight thought that they were engaged in
making an important decision about the
priorities at Los Alamos. Those on Oppen-
heimer’s side did not take the position
that greater concentration on thermo-

nuclear work was impossible. They said—
for a variety of reasons—that it was
undesirable.

It would be amazing beyond anything
told in the Shepley-Blair story if these
widely recognized scientists were con-
sciously lving when they say that the
baok is basically wrong. Without doubt,
they believe what they say, but if his-
tory gives another verdict when “all the
facts” are in, it will not be the first time
that honest men, involved in tense and
complex struggles, turned out to be not
the best reporters of what they lived
through. Military history is full of com-
petent and honest officers who gave ac-
counts of battles that were not fought
the way they remembered them.

The Character Assassins. By far the
most violent and sustained attack on the
book comes from the brothers Alsop, Jo-
seph and Stewart. Their columns in papers
throughout the land have carried this
sensational piece of news: “Before very
long, the Eisenhower Administration is
likely to have to answer a short, highly
ptat:hml guestion: ‘Do we really need
scientists; or can we just make do with
Lewis Strm.lss“ " They think that Strauss
must go because he confirmed the ver-
dict of the Gordon Gray board which
withdrew Oppenheimer’s security clear-
ance—although neither the board nor
Strauss reflected on Oppenheimer’s loyal-
ty. That was bad enough—now by silence
Strauss seems to confirm the Shepley-
Blair book.

Before the Shepley-Blair book ap-
peared, the Alsops, in a long Harper's arti-
cle (now about to be published in book
form). gave their explanation of the case

inst Oppenheimer. They said it was a
plot, and they showed no reticence about
describing the motives of the anti-Oppen-
heimer plotters. Air Force “zealots” knew
—or rather “smelled"—Oppenheimer’s op-
position to the doctrine of defense center-
ing on strategic air-atomic striking power.
These men knew that he was “vulnerable”
because of his past Communist associa-
tions, so they decreed his demise. (The
Alsops for years have been attacking those
who did not agree with their ideas of mil-
itary strategy—notably their doctrine
that more attention should be paid to
air defense. )

But this theory of anti-Oppenheimer
motive will not account for Admiral
Strauss, no Air Force “zealot.” The Alsops
supply Strauss with a far baser motive
than zealotry. It seems—and this will
surprise hundreds of his business. official
and intellectual  acquaintances—that
Strauss is an incredibly vain, arrogant and
vengeful man. Years ago, Oppenheimer
had the misfortune to humiliate Strauss
in an argument about isotopes, say the
Alsops, and Strauss never forgot.

The Alsops also compare the Oppen-
heimer hearings with the Dreyfus case.
There are differences, Oppenheimer’s chief
“judge” was Gordon Gray of North Caro-
lina, one of the five or len university pres-
idents in the U.S, most respected by the
academic community of the nation. The
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procedure of the Gray board was scrupu-
lous, and most of the weighty testimony
against Oppenheimer came out of his own
mouth,

Drevius was legally lvached by per-
jured and forged testimony sustained by a
group of reactionary pinheads. There is
no dirtier thing that could be said of
Lewis Strauss than that he set up a Drey-
fus case; that for personal motives of the
most picayune sort he sought the ruin of a
man to whom the countrv owes so much.

The Book's Lesson. The Alsopian myth
that the hydrogen-bomb controversy is
part of an anti-science, anti-intellectual
crusade could do profound damage in this
country. There is bound to be—and there
is indeed—trouble between intellectual
principles and any government of a great
modern state. The governments deal with
terrible responsibilities of the here and
now. The intellectual deals with truths
that transcend national boundaries.

The modern state, encouraged over the
last century by some intellectuals of the
right and left, has assumed monstrous
proportions and makes monstrous de-
mands of all its citizens. The U.S. has
been and continues to be relatively free
of the big-state ideclogy. But in the pres-
ence of the Communist threat, it cannot
stop conscripting its young men or the
income of its people; nor can it fail to ask
the scientists to help—on terms that will
be onerous to them. Relief is not in sight
—short of the time when a world monop-
oly of atomic weapons is established in
the interest of justice, which both intel-
lectuals and governments are supposed
to serve.

Anvbody, including an atomic scientist,
hac a -...I-n b mmacs triae btha MDascaesenant
T lh&“ v l.ll.!.a.! H‘J‘\JI( LU WU LML
his opinion of how to attain this or any
other goal. From such pressures a healthy
government will know how to derive nour-
ishment for clear, strang, decisive policy-
making. The struggles related in The Hy-
drogen Bomb took place in a Government
(and in a nation) that was coniused about
its own strategic situation and unclear
about its aims. A determined pressure
group can play havoc in such a situation.
To relate the story of how one such
pressure group almost did, is not to set up
a conflict of science v, the state. It is to
warn that feeble top leadership can lead
even the most powerful nations into mor-
tal danger.

THE CONGRESS

The Closed Mind

Senator Joe McCarthy last week pre-
dicted that the U.S. Senate will vote to
censure him in the special session sched-
uled to begin next week. He had a typieal
McCarthy explanation: "1 don't expect
more than a very few Senators will go in
there with an open mind.” In the next
breath, he showed that he hag one of the
closed minds. Said he: “I am not going
to defend myseli before the Senate. [I
am going to] make a record so the Amer-
ican people will know what the Senate
is doing.”
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HEROES

Life with Papa

Rolling to starboard like an old freight-
er, Ernest Hemingway lumbered about his
weather-beaten manor in the village of
San Francisco de Paula, Cuba one day last
week, greeting the press. He had sum-
moned reporters and photographers for an
announcement from Stockholm. At ss,
“Papa” Hemingway had received the No-
bel Prize for Literature. When the an-
nouncement came through, he was ready
with an uncharacteristic statement: “I am
very pleased and very proud to receive the
Nobel Prize for Literature.” But later.
Hemingway could not resist being Hem-
ingway. He seized a microphone and
cracked (in colloquial Spanish): *“This

will notify any friends, or others who are

began to say that maybe he shouldn't have
had the 1954 award. He would have been
happy if Carl Sandburg (“a very dedicated
writer”) had won, he said. Later he
thought that Bernard Berenson, the art
historian, would have been a wortbhy re-
cipient. Several gin and tonics later, he
decided that the Danish authoress, Baron-
ess Karen Blixen (pen name: Isak Dine-
sen ) should have had it. But he was still
happy that he had won; he needed the
dough.

“A Fine-Looking Corpse."” The robus-
tious novelist looked as fit and frisky as a’
Spanish bull: he was deeply tanned, and
the beard on his chin, which had been a
casualty of his harrowing adventures in
Uganda and Kenya last winter (Toue,
Feb. 1), was restored to snowy mag-
nificence. But he would be unable to make

Leonord McCombe—Lin

Noserman HEmineway AT Home ix Cusa
Bullfights, booze, warspwomen, and groce under stress.

planning to bum me, that the money
hasn't arrived from:.Stockholm yet.”

Ultimate Honor: Thus the world's
ultimate literary honor came to America's
best-known novelist,* a supercrafisman
who has won enormeus popularity while
settimg a new literary style. As a globe-
trotting expert on bullfights, booze, wars,
women, big-game hunting, deep-sea fish-
ing and courage (which he once defined
as “grace under stress”), his personality
bad made as deep an impression on the
public as his novels.

While the Nobel award is usually given
for a wrter's life work, the Swedish
Academy singled out Hemingway's Pulitzer
Prizewinning 1952 novelle, The Old Man
and the Sea {which was first published in
Lire), for honorable mention. At the
Hemingway home, as the day waned and
the celebration waxed, the great author

® Five other American-bom writers have won
the Nobel Prize: Sinclair Lewis, Eugene O'Neill,
Peard Buck, William Faulkner and T. 8. Eliot.

the trip to Stockholm to receive his
prize in person. He was on a strict regi-
men of abstinence (“but I broke training
today") and to:30 bedtime. recovering
from his African injuries. “I look robust,”
he said. “and would undoubtedly make a
fine-looking corpse, but I'm really in no
shape to travel.”

Recovering from a broken spine, a rup-
tured kidney, an injured lLiver and a
fractured skull was a slow process, even
for Hemingway. By last week, he had
found his convalescence a little trving.
“Starting tomorrow, I won’t be able to
receive anyone else,” he told the report-
ers. “T must get back to work. T don’t
expect to live more than five years more,
and I have to hurry.”

When the $35,000 prize money arrives
from Stockholm, he plans to use $8.000 -
to pay ofi pressing debts. The rest he will
spend “intelligently,” which, by Heming-
way standards, will include a return trip
to the brushfires and Mau Mau and the
green hills of Africa.
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HBOMB BOOK RENEWS
OPPENHEIMER DISPUTE

Old Wounds Reopened by Chargeé
Scientists Hampered Program

By ELIE ABEL
Special 15 The Xew York Times,

speculntions” about the Jabora.

tory that “we could not rely on|
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ugly scars left by the Oppen-
heimer case.

Thiz time it is not only
friends and tonn(m of Dr. J.
Robert Oppenheimer in the sci-|;
entific community who are bleed-|;
ing. Rear Admiral Lewis L.
Strauss, chairman of the Atomic
Energy Commissinn, confirms
that he offered to buy the
script and lock it in a
twenty-five years until

our traditional ‘no comment'.”
. The layman may well ask what
the shouting is about,

saf
most

SteP nuking‘publ!con{haew <
|[of the book's publication pan},

angry review he had written for
the Bulletin of the Atomic Sci-

entisty that will not appear in
that magazine until 2 month
from now.
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“Ihese two boys,” he wrote,
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THE UNEASY SCIENTISTS

HE worried debate about the re-

. L lationship of science and govern-

ment got a going-over last week from

widely divergent angles. In a new Gov-

ermnment document, Organisation and

Administration of the Militery Re-
evelopment

the Protestant Christian Century
pointed out the cause of their distress.

L ]

The Government document, a book
of 710 pages, is the record of hearings
last June before a House of Repre-
committeemen heard was not reassur-
ing. Individualistic scientists, said wit-
pness after witness, cannot be regi-
mented and still work at their best.

command, as in the ma
of the armgd eTVice:

they are nders!
pabilities wasted.

that were intolerable.” He di
blame the military men for all ths
tion. “It is one cliqu

E

and policies at the expense of scientific
progress . . . There has been, unhap-
. a deterioration in recent months
the relationship between Govern-
ment and science . . . Members of the
community are clearly dis-
couraged and apprehensive . . .
Said Mathematician John von Neu-

el pha e T

might
to be

the most

1
7
E

stomach for such power struggles—
but he cannot avoid becoming in-
volved in them ... To protect his
sanity he disavows moral responsibil-
ity for the consequences of his work.
But does be convince himseli?” )
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